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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA

JOHN J. HALL and JEANETTE A. HALL,
as Administrators and Personal
Representatives of the ESTATE OF
KARLIE A. HALL, and in their own right
as Decedent’s helat-law,

Plaintiffs, : CIVIL ACTION NO. 17-220
V.

MILLERSVILLE UNIVERSITY, SARA
WIBERG, Individually and as an Employee
of Millersville University, ACACIA
NATIONAL FRATERNITY, ACACIA
FRATERNITY CHAPTER NUMBER 84,
COLIN HERBINE, Individually and as an
Agent of Acacia National Fraternity and
Acacia Fraternity Chapter No. 84, JACK
MILITO, Individually and as an Agent of
Acacia National Fraternity and Acacia
Fraternity Chapter No. 84, NICHOLAS
HENCH, Individually and as an Agent of
Acacia National Fraternity and Acacia
Fraternity Chapter No. 84, SEARBERT,
Individually and as an Agent of Acacia
National Fraternity and Acacia Fraternity
Chapter No. 84, NIGALE QUILES,
Individually and as an Agent of Acacia
National Fraternity and Acacia Fraternity
ChapterNo. 84; and JOHN DOES #1-5,
Individually and as Agents of Acacia
National Fraternity and Acacia Fraternity
Chapter No. 84,

Defendants.

MEMORANDUM OPINION

Smith, J. September 52019
This tragic case arises frommarss brutal murder of his 1§earold girlfriend in her

universitydorm room aftethey attended faternity partytogether Thevictim’s parents attribute

Dockets.Justia.com


https://dockets.justia.com/docket/pennsylvania/paedce/5:2017cv00220/525939/
https://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/pennsylvania/paedce/5:2017cv00220/525939/164/
https://dockets.justia.com/

some responsibility for the murder ttee universty, thelocal fraternity chapter and certain of its
members who hosted the pattyar daughter and her boyfrienattended, and #i chapter’'s
national frateral organization.Specifically, theyassertnegligence claims&gainst each of the
fraternity defendants and a Title IX claim againstuhaversity. At bottom, the plaintiffs believe
that each of the defendants, through their own actions, contributed to the chain of events that
allowedtheir daughter’s boyfriend tdrangle heito death in the early morning hours of February
8, 2015.The defendants respond that these events, while undoubtedlyrdreing, can only
legally be attributed tohe boyfriendand his unforeseeable, extraordinary act of murtieus,
they have moved for summary judgment in their favor.

While undoubtedly sympathetic to the plaintiffs’ loss, the court is constrainedet® agh
the defendantsAs to the national fraternity, the Pennsylvania Supreme Courregiivocally
held that a natioridraternity is not liable under thecial host actrine for the acts of its chapters.
That jurisprudence does not provide any exception for a national fraternity, likdehdalg here,
that took on some role in assisting the chapter return to carfiputhauniversity deactivated it,
where there is no evidence that the national fraternity had the power or resourcesotalemnt
chapter’'s dayto-day activities, including the party at isslie.contrast, thesocial host actrine
undoubtedly applies to thkcal chapter defendants who served alcohol to minors, but no
proximate cause exists over such an unforeseeable, extraordinary act aevib&roccurrednly
afterthe victimandher boyfrienchad already left the partizastly, although the court would find
the evidence of the universityiisdifference tahe boyfriends abuse sufficient to defeat summary
judgment if he were a studentthe defendant universityo caselavgupports extendingitle 1X

liability to coverharassment at tHeands of a student’s own guest.



The court emphasizes the limited nature of its role in assessing the evente.dthes
guestion for the court to answer is not whether everyone who played any role in the eeents a
ethically but only whethdhe factsherecan establish civil liabilityUltimately, the answer to that
limited question is noTherefore, the court will grant the defendants’ motions for summary
judgment.

l. PROCEDURAL HISTORY

The plaintiffs, Jeannette AHall and John JHall, as administrators and personal
representatives of the Estate of Karlie A. Hall, and in their own right as theeti€¢seaeirsat
law, commenced this action by filing a complaint on January 17, Z0dmpl., Doc. No. 1The
complaint asserted claims for lierate indifference under Title IX, substantive due process
violations and statereated danger under 42 U.S.&.1983, and a survival action against
Millersville University (“Millersville” or the “University”) and Sara Wiber¢’'Wiberg”’)—the
resident agstant for the dormitory where the decedéarlie A. Hall (“Karlie”), lived; as well as
a survival action under negligence and negligepee setheoriesagainst Acacia National
Fraternity (“Acacia”) Acacia FraternityMillersville Chapter (“Chapter 84br the “Chapter);
and Chapter 84 individual members Colin Herbiftéegfbine”), Jack Milito (“Milito”), Nicholas
Hench (“Hench”), Sean Ebert (“Ebert”), Nigale Quiles (“Quiles”), and Jobes[}-5.1d. at{{8—

19, 88-154.The plaintiffs also asserted wrongful death claims against all defentthras. {1
145-54.

Ebert, Millersville and Wiberg, and Hench filed separate motions to dismisertipaint
for failure to state a claim on February 27, 2017, March 7, 2017, and March 13, 2017, respectively.
Doc. Nos. 23, 44, 48n March 13, 2017, the plaintiffs filed a response in opposition to Ebert’s

motion to dismissDoc. No. 46.Chapter 84 anthe individual membedefendantdiled a joint



motion to dismiss on March 20, 2031 Doc. No. 55The plaintiffs filed a response in opposition
to Hench'’s individual motion to dismiss on March 24, 2@@c. No. 58.Ebert filed a reply in
further support of his individual motion to dismiss on March 27, 2Db€. No. 59 Acacia moved
to dismiss on March 28, 2@1Doc. No. 60.The plaintiffs filed separate responses in opposition
to Chapter 84 (with the individual defendantand Millersville and Wiberg’s motions to dismiss
on April 3 and 4, 2017, respectiveoc. Nos. 61, 620n April 10, 2017, Milito filed a reply to
the plaintiffs’ response in opposition his motion? Doc. No. 65 Millersville and Wiberg filed
their reply to the plaintiffs’ opposition on April 11, 2017. Doc. No. 68.

On April 21, 2017, the court granted the plaistimotions for leave to file sureplies to
Milito’s and Millersville and Wiberg's replies to their opposition briefs, whiwkytfiled on May
1, 2017.Doc. Nos. 6972, 75.Chapter 84with the individual membejsand Hench filed their
separate replies to the plaintiffs’ opposisaon April 24, 2017.Doc. Nos. 7374. The court
granted the plaintiffs’ motion for leave to file a seply to Chapter 84 and the individual
membersreply on May 2, 2017, which the plaintiffs filed on May 12, 200@c. Nos. 78, 80.
The plaintiffs filed their response in opposition to Acacia’s motion to dismiss gni®a20%.
Doc. No. 79Chapter 84with the individual membejsand Acacia filed their responses in further
support of their motions to dismiss on May 12, 2G June 16, 2017, respectivaDoc. Nos.
80, 83.

After oral argument on July 27, 2017, the court denied the motions to dsepasately

filed by Ebert Hench Chapter 84with its individual membe)s and Acaciawithout prejudice to

1 The moving defendants filed this motion on behalf of Hench and Ebgiteltésese individuals having already filed
motions to dismiss the complaint.

2 Prior to this reply, Milito did not file a motion to dismiss on his own bef@é only motion to dismiss on his behalf
was the motion filed on behalf of Chapter 84 and its individual memfendants. It is unique to have only one
defendant (who appears to also have his own private counsel) out of a groumadédefevho have moved to dismiss
a complant, file a reply brief to the plaintiffs’ opposition to the motion to dismiss.
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these defendants reaising their arguments in motions for summary judgm8ept. 29, 2017
Order at 2, 4Doc. No. 87.The courtalsodenied in part and granted in part Millersville and
Wiberg’s motion, dismissing with prejudice the Title IX claims against Wiberg ftichwthe
plaintiffs did not object)the section 1983individual liability claims against Wiberbased on
gualified immunity, and the section 1983 official capacity claims against Wiltergt 2-3 and
n.1, 2. The court further dismissed without prejudice the section 1983 claim agaiess\WMié
based on Eleventh Amendment immunity.at 3 and n.3.

The defendantthenfiled separate answers to the complaint between October 11 and 13,
2017.Doc. Nos. 8895.0n October 31, 2017, the court entered a scheduling order allowing the
plaintiffs to file an amended complaint to identify the fictitious defendants by March 2, 2018,
Scheduling Order at Z)oc. No. 98, but thelaintiffs declined to dcso. By stipulation of the
parties, the court dismissed Milito from the action on February 15, 28@i&bert from the action
on September 4, 2018. Doc. Nos. 108, 137.

Millersville filed a motion for summary judgment on September 17, 2Db8. No. 147.

The plaintiffs filed a response in opposition on October 1782Da&c. No. 148 Acacia filed its
motion for summary judgment on October 19, Miillersville filed a reply in response to the
plaintiffs’ opposition brief on November 9, 201Boc. No. 151 The plaintiffs filed a response in
opposition to Acacia’s summary judgment motion on November 9, 2D48. No. 152.The
plaintiffs filed a response in opposition to Chapter 84 and the remaining individual members’
(Herbine and Quilgsmotion for summary judgment on November 9, 2@@&c. No. 153Acacia

and Chapter 84iled separataepliesin further support otheir summary judgment motion on



November 16, 2018oc. Ne. 157, 158The court heard oral argument on the parties’ briefing
on November 29, 2018. The summary judgment motions are now ripe for review.
Il. FACTUAL BACKGROUND 4

A. Karlie Beqgins a Relationship withGregorio Orrostieta, whom She Continues Dating
at Millersville

Karlie met and begadating Gregoridrrosteta(“Orrostieta”)in March 2014, towards the
end of her senior year of high scholillersville University’s Statement of Material Facts in
Supp.of its Mot. for Summ. J. (“Millersville SOF”) at I 1, Doc. No. 127PIs.” Response to Def.
Millersville University’s Statement of Material Facts in Supp its Mot. for Summ. J. (“PI5s.
Resp. taMlillersville SOF”) at 11, Doc. No. 148. Over that summr, Orrostieta regularly stayed
at the Hallhome.Millersville SOF at | 3; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at { 30On one occasion,
Karlie was in the shower when her twin sister, Kridtail (“Kristen”), heard Orrostieta screaming
at her about text messegyshe had semdlillersville SOF at | 4; PIsSResp. toMillersville SOF at
1 4.At one point during the fight, Kristen heafarlie yell, “you hit me.”Millersville SOF at { 5;
Pls.” Resp. to Millersville SOF at | Bristen does not recalfhether she evatiscusedthe fight
with Karlie. Millersville SOF at | 6; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at { 6.

At another pointhat summer, Orrostieta am@rlie were locked in a room during a party
at theHall home, wherKristen heard “a lot of banging,” which waed her Millersville SOF at |
8 (quotingKristen’sdeposition testimony); PIResp. toMillersville SOF at { 8Kristen did not
discuss the incident witkarlie or their motherMillersville SOF at § 9; PIsResp. toMillersville

SOF at § 9After Karlie’s death hermother learned from reviewirlgarlie’s Facebook messages

3 The parties stipulated to dismissal of any claims against Herbthélench on December 7, 2018. Doc. Nos. 160,
161. Thus, the only remaining individual Chapter 84 defendsdin¢( than the local chapter) is Quiles.

4Where the parties disagree about the relevant facts, the court has recited timetff@ctsest possible light for the
plaintiffs. See Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, 477 U.S. 242, 261 n.2 (1986) (“[A]ll evidemenust be construed in
the light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment.”).
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with Orrostieta that he had physically abused her on multiple occasdlessville SOF at T 12;
Pls! Resp. toMillersville SOF at T 12.

That fdl, Karlie and Kirsten started as fresamat Millersville, with Karlie living in a
dorm room in BardHall. Millersville SOF at T 13PIs. Resp. toMillersville SOF at { 13She and
Orrostietacontinued their relationship, and he frequently visited her and stayed as her guest in her
dorm roomMillersville SOF at | 15; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at { 15.

B. The October 4-5, 2014 Incident

On October 4, 2014 arlie and Orrostieta returned to her room from a party, at which time
Karlie's roommate, Tina FlexerTina’), noticedKarlie was cryingMillersville SOF at { 18; PISs.
Resp. taMlillersville SOF at  18Karlie thenleft the room and went to the bathroddep. of Tina
Flexer (“Tina Dep.”) at 46:143, Doc. No. 148. Tina left the room and ran into Karlie in the
hallway, at which point shiold Tinathat she had had a verbal fight with Orrostitdaat 47:5
18. Wiberg had also seen Karlie crying in the hallway, and she asked to speak ta Thea i
hallway to see if she knew what was wromg,. at 49:1821, 50:4—7 Dep of Sara Wiberg
(“Wiberg Dep.”) at 60:2661:3, Doc. No. 147. Tina and Wiberg were talking ithe hallway
when they hearBarlie and Orrostietgelling, “rustling aroundof items or furniture] andKarlie
scream“ow” from inside the roomTina Dep. at 6:6-58:6 Sara Wiberg Oct. 5, 2014 Incident
Reporting Form, Doc. No. 148, Wiberg Dep. at 66:@7:13, 67:2469:2Q Millersville SOF at
19; PIs.” Resp. tMillersville SOF at | 19.

Wiberg then knocked on the dodfillersville SOF at T 20; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF
at 1 20.When Orrostieta answeredarlie was in bed with her back to theMillersville SOF at

1 20; PIs.” Resp. tMillersville SOF at § 200rrostieta explained that the noises were from him

> The parties seem to agree that the party began the night of October dargDile relevant events continued into
the early morning of October 5, 20eeMillersville SOFat Heading between {1 16 and 17.
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trying to “force himself into bed” witKarlie, and that “things got a little physical” wh&marlie
“pushed him away.Millersville SOF at {1 2&21; PIs. Resp. toMillersville SOF at § 20-21.
Wiberg testified thaat one pointQrrostieta‘put his hand onWWiberg’'s shoulders,” and that she
perceived him as trying to “shift[] the focusihen she asked why Karlie had yelled “oWwl5!
Resp. taMillersville SOF at § 20-21; Wiberg Dep. at 56:14-15, 79:14-21.

Wiberg testified that when she approacKedlie, she saw her face was “red and puffy” as
if she had been crying, but she did not see any physical injMikstsville SOF at | 22; PIs.
Resp. taMillersville SOF at § 22Tina testified she and Wiberg both observed an injury to Karlie’s
eye and that they got an ice pack to put on Karlie’s fals2.Resp. toMillersville SOF at | 22
Tina Dep. atl24:5-20Karlie then told Wiberg that she wanted Orrostieta to leave but would not
say anything elséillersville SOF at{ 23; PIs.” Resp. tMillersville SOF at { 23In the hallway,
Orrostieta begged Wiberg to allow him to stay, butasie had said she wanted him to leave, he
could no longer be her guest, so Wiberg called the pdldkersville SOF at § 24; PIsResp. to
Millersville SOF at | 24.

Officer Brian Liddick of the Millersville University Police responded to a aall'§ubject
refusing to leave campudMillersville SOF at q 25, 26 Pls: Resp. toMillersville SOF at § 25
26. Officer Liddick drove Orrostieta to a nearby gas station, e/laeirienchadagreed to pick him
up. Millersville SOF at { 27; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at § 27Wiberg created an Incident
Report, which she submitted to Assistant Director of Judicial Affairs RofeVWillersville SOF
at § 29; PlIs.” Resp. tlillersville SOF at  290fficer Liddick did not create an incident report
until after the murdeMillersville SOF at  28; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at { 8.

Tina returned to the dorm roolater and spoke tdKarlie about the incideniMillersvill e

SOF at{ 30; PIs.” Resp. tMillersville SOF at { 30Karlie kept her back tdina, but Tina



eventually saw that “there was something weird with her eye” and it “was reallyMilérsville

SOF at T 3@quotingTina Dep. 61:319), PIs.” Resp. to Millersville SOF at { 3Rarlie told Tina

that Orrostieta had “pushed with the heel of [his] hand on her eye” and “push[ed] her down int
the pillow.” Millersville SOF at{[ 31; Pls.” Resp. tMillersville SOF at{ 31.

C. Tina’s Description of the Incident to Her Mother and Her Mother’'s Subsequent
Calls to Millersville

Tina called her mother, Renea Flexer (“Rene#d)describe the incident the next day,
because she was concerned about Karlie and believed that Orrostieta may reavieliigtsville
SOF at 1 36; PIsResp. taMillersville SOF at § 36Reneacalled the Millersville University Police,
the Millersvile Counseling Department, and Area Coordinator Allie Sehl to report that her
daughter told her that her roommate’s boyfriend had given her a black eye, bait Hag there
was nothing they could do without a complaining witn&&#ersville SOF at § 3; PIs.” Resp. to
Millersville SOF at § 37Tina testified that Karlie rarely left her roamaring the week following
the incidentand skipped classn the MondayPIs’ Resp. toMillersville SOF at  39citing, inter
alia, Tina Dep. 146:22147:9; Crim. Trial Testimony of Tina Flexer, Apr. 26, 2016, at 1312:6
12)5

D. Karlie and Orrostieta Attend a Fraternity Party at Acacia Chapter 28 on February
7-8, 2015

From the night of February 7, 2016,the early morning hours of February 8, 2015, Karlie
and Orrostieta attended a party with a group of friends, including Karliewr,slstisten.
Millersville SOF at 1 51; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at § 51Members of one of Millersville’s
fraternties, Acacia Chapter 84, hosted the party at their house, which was decothtédacia

paraphernalia and symbols akabwn locallyas the “Acacia HouseAcacia Fraternity Chapter

6 Karlie suffered another unexplained eye injury in{3euary, 2015, Millersville SOF at 79-&8; Pls. Millersville
SOF at 11 430, but that injury could not be tied to Orrostieta and is irrelevant toth€sanalysis.
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Number 84, Colin Herbine and Nigale Quiles’ Statement of Material Fa8ispp of Their Mot.
for Summ. J. (“Chapter 84 SOFat § 8 Doc. No. 149; PIs.” Respto Acacia Frat[erhty Chapter
Number 84, Colin Herbine and Nigale Quiles’ Statement of Material Facts in &uppeir Mot.
for Summ. J. (PIs! Resp. toChapter 84 SOF at § 8 Doc. No. 152. Witnesses testified that
Karlie and Orrostieta purchased cups at the party for $5, which would allawttheonsume
alcohol while therePls! Resp. to Chapter 84 SGH 1 10.

After arriving at the party, one memabof Karlie’s friend group, Kyle Smith (“Smith”),
witnessed Orrostieta “viciously” yell at Karlipoint his finger in front of her facand then “push
her into the wall pretty hardiefore walkingaway.Chapter 84 SOF at | 11; Pls.” RespCtmapter
84 SOF at { 11Smith testified that he was between five and ten feet away from Karlie and
Orrostieta at the time, and he could not hear what Orrostieta was saying tobkibdauld tell
from his demeanor that he was yelliRys. Resp. toChapter 84 SOR 4 11, Dep of Kyle Smith
(“Smith Dep.”) at 52:1553:14 88:1523, Doc. No. 1528. He did not know whether anyone else
witnessed the altercation and did not tell any members of Chapter 84 what he had se#ngincl
any of the “sober brothers” who were tasked with monitoring the panigpter 84 SOF at 1 11;
Pls! Resp. toChapter 84 SOF at T 1A.Chapter 84 member, Adam Kri{tKrull”) , testified that,
if an “assault” were to occur in the basement, “more than likely somebody would have s[gen] it
Dep. of Adam Krull (“Krull Dep.”) at 147:1#18, Doc. No. 153 3. Smith further testified that he
made sure to check on Karlie before he left the partyatiethe saw her and Orrostieta dancing
togethetheassumed “everything’s goodChapter 84 SOF at { 12; Pls.” RespCtwapter 84 SOF

at 1 12.

" The attorney who deposed Krull did not explain the term “assault” to Krull.

8 The plaintiffs assert in their statement of facts, “[w]hen this assaultrect; it would have been observed by those
sober brothers assigned to patrol the party.” Pls.” Resp. to Chapter 84 SOF eitifid Kiull Dep.). For the reasons
discussed in detail in the Chapter 84 liability section, that is an inaccupa¢sentation of Krull's testimony.

10



E. Orrostieta Murders Karlie in Her Dorm Room

After Karlie and Orrostieta returned to Karlie’'s dorm rodfarlie’s neighbors reported to
Wiberg that they hearturniture beingmovedin Karlie’s room.Millersville SOF at | 52; PIs.
Resp. taMlillersville SOF at § 52Another student in a room next door reported to the pafies
the murdethat he and a friend heard a “loud bump” that shook the wall, which was loud enough
that another neighbor knocked on his friend’s door to ask whether they had heard the nelise as w
Voluntary Statement of Gerald Sanders, Doc. No-1'A8 hey all then heard the girl screaming
for help.”Id. Wiberg knocked on the door but heard nothing and did not pursue the matter further.
Millersville SOF at § 53; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at { 530rrostieta hadcilled Karlie
through “strangulation and multipteaumatic injuries,’and hepotentially sexually assaulted her.
Millersville SOF at 1 54; PIsResp. toMillersville SOF at  54quoting Postmortem Report, Doc.

No. 14818). He waslaterconvicted of thirddegree murdeMillersville SOF at | 6; PIs. Resp.
to Millersville SOF at { b.

F. Chapter 84’s Relationship with its National Fraternal Organization

Acacia is a lllinois non{profit corporation headquartered in Indianapolis, Indiana, which
operates as a men’s collegiate fratermityaciaFraternity, Inc.’s Statement of Undisputed Facts
in Supp of its Mot. for Summ. J. or, Alternatively, for Partial Summ. Addcia SOF) at T 22
Doc. No. 1562; Pls.” Resp. to Acacia Inc.’s Statement of Undisputed Material Facts in &upp
its Mot. for Summ. J. or, Alternatively, for Partial Summ. PI¢! Resp. toAcacia SOF) at | 22
Doc. No. 1522. Acacia currently has approximately 30 local undergraduate chapters at various
colleges and universities across the United States and Canada, with 1100 active dumtergra
members and seven fdlme paid staffAcacia SOF at | 22; Pls.” Resp. to Acacia SOF at  22.

Acacia issues charters to local chapters, and these charters allow the loeas thape its name,
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traditions, rituals, anthsignia.Acacia SOF at 1 23; PIfResp. toAcacia SOF at { 23.ike most
national fraternities, Acacia has a Risk Management Policy, vettétbs that itshall apply to all
fraternity entities and all levels of fraternity membershiscacia SOF at  2&iting Decl. of
Patrick McGoverrat § 4 Doc. No. 1B-3); Pls.” Resp. to Acacia SOF at { 23 (quoting Dep. of
Patrick McGovern (“McGovern Dep.”) at 95:4986:1, Doc. No. 15210, andciting McGovern
Dep. at 88:1590:10, 123:24124:14) Acacia is an educational sgbvernance organization, and
each chapter “ha[s] exclusive jurisdiction over local affairs, except agdprbfor by the_aws of
Acacia” Acacia SOF at  2&itation and internal quotation marks omitted); HResp. toAcacia
SOF at { 24Acacia’s International Presidentthe chief executive officer of the fraternity
responsible for chapter inspections and matters pertaining to chapter sembensees the
International Council, which, in turmpversees th&xecutive Directo—who manages théaily
operations of the international headquarters, chapter operations and expansiobgrship
records, leadership consultants, and office SRd$f. Resp. toAcacia SOF at T 24

Acacia does not have any staff on location at @inthe localchaptes to monitor daily
activities and cannot influence the individual chapters other than by imposingidescifier a
violation. AcaciaSOF at | 26; PIsResp. toAcaciaSOF at  26Regardng Chapter 84, Acacia
assisted the chapter getting back on campus after it was deactivated in 2011 for, among other
infractions, hosting a party where attendees, some of whom were underage, paid $5 for a cup to
consume alcohoPlIs! Resp. toAcaciaSOF at { 26Chapter 84 was also on a debt repayment plan
with Acacia, which required to provide Acacia with monthly written updates regarding its overall
operationsld. Chapter 84 was back in good standing at the tinkadfe's death AcaciaSOF at

1 27; PIS.Resp. toAcaciaSOF at | 27.
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II. DISCUSSION

A. Standard of Review— Motions for Summary Judgment

A district court “$all grant summary judgment if the movant shows that there is no genuine
issue as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter BEthwR
Civ. P. 56(a)Additionally, “[sjummary judgment is appropriate when ‘the pleadings, siéipas,
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affjdaaity, show that
there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving patitieid tena judgment
as a matter of law."Wright v. Corning 679 F.3d 101, 103 (3d Cir. 2012) (quoti@gsatti v. N.J.
State Police71 F.3d 480, 482 (3d Cir. 1995An issue of fact is “genuine” if “the evidence is
such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for the nonmoving pangeison v. Liberty
Lobby,Inc. 477 U.S. 242, 248 (1986A fact is “material” if it “might affect the outcome of the
suit under the governing lawid.

The party moving for summary judgment has the initial burden “of informing théctistr
court of the basis for its motion, and identifying those portions of the pleadings, deppsitions
answers to interrogatories, and admissions on file, together with the affjdaaty, which it
believes demonstrate the absence of a genuine issue of materiaC&otéx Corp. v. Catrett
477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (internal quotation marks omit@dge the moving party has met this
burden, the nomoving party must counter with “specific facts showing that there iaige
issue for trial.”Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Co#a5 U.S. 574, 587 (1986)
(internal quotation marks and citation omittesBeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(c) (stating that “[a] party
asserting that a fact . . . is genuinely disputed must support the assertion bigg to garticular
parts of materials in the record . . .; or . . . [by] showing that the materials cited cbafdish the

absence . . . of a genuine dispute”). The non-movant must show more than the “mereeexdistenc
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a scintilla of evidence” for elements on which the sneovant bears the burden of production.

Anderson477 U.S. at 252Bare assertions, conclusory glgions, or suspicions are insufficient

to defeat summary judgmergeeFireman’s Ins. Co. v. DuFresné76 F.2d 965, 969 (3d Cir.

1982) (indicating that party opposing a motion for summary judgment may notrfezgly upon

bare assertions, conclusoryegjations or suspicions”Ridgewood Bd. of Educ. v. N.E. for M.E.

172 F.3d 238, 252 (3d Cir. 1999) (explaining that “speculation and conclusory allegations” do not

satisfy noamoving party’s duty to “set forth specific facts showing that a genuine i$suaterial

fact exists and that a reasonable factfinder could rule in its fayaitjtionally, the noAmoving

party “cannot rely on unsupported allegations, but must go beyond pleadings and provide some

evidence that would show that there exists a genssue for trial. Jones v. United Parcel Seyv.

214 F.3d 402, 407 (3d Cir. 2000)hus,it is not enough to “merely [] restat[e] the allegations” in

the complaint; instead, the nomoving party must “point to concrete evidence in the record that

supportseach and every essential element of his cdemés v. Beardl45 F. App’x 743, 74516

(3d Cir. 2005) (citingCelotex 477 U.S. at 322Moreover, arguments in briefs “are not evidence

and cannot by themselves create a factual dispute sufficient ta defeanmary judgment

motion.” Jersey Cent. Power & Light Co. v. Twp. of La¢&Ef2 F.2d 1103, 11690 (3d Cir. 1985).
“When considering whether there exist genuine issues of material facutthésaequired

to examine the evidence of record in the light most favorable to the party opposing summary

judgment, and resolve all reasonable inferences in that party’s faVishkin v. Potter476 F.3d

180, 184 (3d Cir. 2007Y.he court must decide “not whether . . . the evidence unmistakably favors

oneside or the other but whether a faiinded jury could return a verdict for the plaintiff on the

evidence presentedAnderson 477 U.S.at 252.“Where the record taken as a whole could not

lead a rational trier of fact to find for the ravoving party, there is no ‘genuine issue for trial
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and the court should grant summary judgment in favor of the moving petyushita Elec. Indus.
Co, 475 U.S. at 587 (citation omittedfurther, when one party’s claims are “blatantly
contradicted by the record, so that no reasonable jury could believe it,” the court shdakknot
those claims as true for the “purposes of ruling on a Motion for Summary JudgBeoit'V.
Harris, 550 U.S. 372, 380 (2007).
B.  Acacia
1. Existence of a Duty
Generally a social hosin Pennsylvania who serves alcohol to an intoxicated person is not
liable for any damages that intoxication causes, whether to the intoxicaseen perself or to a
third-party. See Klein v. Raysinged70 A.2d 507, 51611 (Pa. 1983) (“We agree with this
common law view, and consequently hold that there can be no liability on the part @l dssti
who serves alcoholic beverages to his or her adult guedtstfer thissocial host actrine?
however, an exception applies where the intoxicated persomisor.See Congini by Congini v.
Portersville Valve C9.470 A.2d 515, 518Pa. 1983) (“Thus, we find that defendants were
negligent per se in serving alcohol to a person less than toaatyears of age, and that they can
be held liable for injuries proximately resulting from the minor's intoxicatiqfiobtnotes
omitted)). The duty not to serve alcohol to minors extends both to the minors themselves and to
third parties whom the intoxicated minors may ha®ee Orner v. Mallicke27 A.2d 512, 5224
(Pa. 1987) (reversing lower court dismissal of minor’s personal injutnslagainst social host

who served him alcoholpouglas v. Schwenk79 A.2d 608, 61012 (Pa. Super. 1984holding

9“The social host doctrine is a general phrase used tgndets a claim in negligence against a person (the host) who
provides alcoholic beverages to another (the guest), without remunesaltiere the guest then sustains injuries, or
causes injury to a third person as a result of his intoxicated condiaprés v. Heller 640 A.2d 888, 889 n.1 (Pa.
1994).
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estate of passenger killed in accident with intoxicated minoeddould se party who served
minor alcohol).

In Alumni Association v. Sullivafi Sullivar?), the plaintiff sought to extend the Social
Host Doctrine established @onginito hold thata national fraternig hada duty to “monitor the
activities of its Chapters,” anslastherefore responsible for damage an intoxicated minor caused
after being served alcohol at a chapter hadbig2 A.2d 1209, 1211 (Pa. 1990) that case, a minor
who set fire to a neighboring house sought to file a joinder complaint against the uniasrsit
well as the national fraternity and fraternity chapter where he had consumieal aladier in the
night. Id. at 1209-10. The Court held that the national fraternity had no duty to the pzubst,
even though it purportedly owned the property where the party occurred, dévaneswere “no
allegations the fraternity had actual knowledge of the activities allegedlyrring at the local
chapter or of the ability of the national body to cohsaid activities.d. at1211.The Sullivan
Court based its decision not to extend liability to the national organization on tweiffactors:
first, the fraternal nature of the relationship between individual chapters and the national
organization and second, the national chapter’'s inabilitgaimemporaneously monitor and
control its chapters’ activitie§.he court reasoned,

By definition such organizations are based upon fraternal, not paternal

relationshipsNational organizations do not have the ability to monitor the activities

of their respective chapters which would justify imposing the duty appellant seeks.

The national organization in fraternal groups has only the power to discipline an

errant chapter after the fadt. does not possess the resources to monitor the

activities of its chpters contemporaneously with the evématernal organizations

are premised upon a fellowship of equals; it is not a relationship where one group

is superior to the other and may be held responsible for the conduct of the other.

From this factual matrixhere is no basis in the relationship to expand the liability

of the national body to include responsibility for the conduct of one of its chapters.

Id. at1213.
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TheSullivanCourt agreed with the Third Circuit’s logic kassett v. Delta Kappa Epsilon
(New York) 807 F.2d 1150 (1986), amdacleary v. Hines817 F.2d 1081 (1987/)hat to qualify
as a social host, the defendant must have “intentionally and substantially aidedcamdgettthe
consumption of alcohol by a minor guest . .Id."at 1212 (quotingMacleary, 817 F.2dat 1084).
Social hosts are those who “participated in the planning and the funding of socialvelverdgs
alcohol was consumed by minors [and were] . . . aware of the degree of consumption by the
minors.” Id. (citing Macleay, 817 F.2d at 1084rassett 807 F.2d at 116563). Applying this
standard, th&ullivanCourt held that neither the university nor the national fraternity were social
hosts, because “there [we]re no allegations that either the fraternity@niversiy was involved
in the planning of these events or the serving, supplying, or purchasing of liguat1213.

The Superior Court of Pennsylvania appli@dllivanto reach a similar conclusion in
Millard v. Osborne 611 A.2d 7151992).In that case, thestate of a minor who was killed in a
motorcycle accident after consuming alcohol at a fraternity house sued lggecathich then
joined the national fraternit$11 A.2d at 71516.The plaintiff argued that “the national fraternity
rendered substantial assistance in consumption of alcohol by a minor in that it abuhsele
chapter how to conduct parties and avoid civil liabjlitg. at 719, but e court rejected this
argument, in part because “the national fraternity counseigdinstthe use of alcohol.1d.
(citing national fraternity resolution requiring consumption and distributionlanfhal to be
consistent withall applicable regulations, policieandlaw). The plaintiff pointed to the fact that
“the national fraternity counseled the chapter to avoid potential liability byhanihg ‘open’
parties,[but e]ven this statement indicate[d] that the national fraternity counaelagfrom
aacess to alcohol by suggesting that the chapter never have any open parties, eheraaess

was unrestricted fd. The fact that the chapter ultimately allowed underage drinking on its property
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was not the point; it was that the national fraternity at encouraged-and, indeed, affirmatively
discouraged-them from doing soLikewise, the court recognized that “the national fraternity
[wa]s not in a position to control the actions of its chapterdn.addition to the lack of geographic
proximity which would defeat any attempt at el@yday control, we note our supreme court [in
Sullivanl has unequivocally stated that a National Fraternal Organization is not under a duty t
control the activities of its memberdd. at 719-20.

The plaintiffs do notlispute thaSullivanheld that national fraternities are not liable under
the Social Host Doctrine but argue that this case is distinguishable bgloares Acacia chose to
engage with Chapter 8dore closely than in a typical national fraterdidgal chapter relationship
SeePls.” Mem. of Law in Support of its Mot. Opposing Acacia Fraternity Inc.&t.Nor Summ.
J. or, Alternatively, for Partial Summ. J., (“Acacia Opmt)3 Doc. No. 1521 (“What should be
taken from this statement by the Pennsylvania Supreme CowBtllimar] is that [] typically a
national entity does not have the ability to monitor the activities of their chgi)eiSpecifically,
the plaintiffs assert that Acaciatkecision to work with Chapter 84 after its 2011 deactivation
meant that it “assumed a duty to ensure no harm came from Chapter 84’s conduct ameiritbncur
assumed the role of principal in an agency relationship that will see them vilyatiable for
Chapter 84’s misconductld. at 41°

But nothing in eitherSullivan or Millard invites the caséy-case inquiry into the

relationship between each individual chapter and its national entity that théffplaeek!® In

0 The plaintiffs further argue that a genuine issue of material fact daistise jury to decide as to whether Acacia
assumed a duty to Karlie, Acacia Opp. at 18, but “[t]he existence of a Gugpestion of law for the court to decide.”
R.W. v. Manzek888 A.2d 740, 746 (Pa. 2005) (citations omittedg also Port Auth. of N.Y. and N.J. v. Arcadian
Corp., 189 F.3d 305, 320 (3d Cir. 1999) (“As we have seen, the existence of a gubpésly aquestion for the
court.”).

1 The plaintiffs cite tdckenner v. Kappa Alpha Psi Fraternity, Inchislding, repeating the languageSillivan that

“[i]t is clear that the Court [irSullivar] limited its holding to the factual matrix of the case . . . .aéia Opp. at 9
(quoting 808 A.2d 178, 182 (Pa. Super. 2002)). Butkbenercourt described the relevant factual matrix as an
“invitation to expand social host liability to fraternal organizations” arcidgel that analysis was inapplicable in a
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Sullivan the Court held that “[t]he national organization in fraternal groups has only the power to
discipline an errant chapter after the fact,” not merely tt@particular defendant had no such
power.572 A.2d at 1213And even ifthe Sullivan Court hadpermitted a more focused inquiry,

there is no evidence here that Acacia had the sort of power over or knowledge of Chapter 84’s
day+to-day activities that would have allowed it to preventotherwise controthe party on
February #8, 2015.To illustrate the poinfurther, the national fraternity iMillard likewise
“counseled” its chapters to avoid open parties with egmemce alcohol and service to minors,
including through a policy in relevant part identical to the Risk Managemeny Relie611 A.2d

at 719n.4. But the fact that the national entity implemented such a policy that the individual
chapter disregarded, in violation of the national entity’s rules, did not warraré¢edifresult.

The plaintiffs hereseem taargue that unlike iMillard, Acacia lad reason to know that
Chapter 84 was not complying with the Risk Management Policy because of the 2011 party tha
led to its deactivation and updates it received from Chaptert®8é months before Karlie’s death
Specifically, they point to Chapter 84ember Kevin Mynaugh’'¢“Mynaugh”) statement in a
monthly report to Acacia for August/September 2€Hat the Chapter “fe[lt] as a Fraternity that
the way we had been running things w[as] not safe for us as a Fraternity and the peoptrev
involved outside of the FraternityAcacia Opp. at 14 (quotingcacia Fraternity Millersville
Chapter; Monthly Report‘Chapter 84 Monthly Report”), Doc. No. 158). But the Sullivan
Court explicitly rejected the plaintiff’'s argument that a social host may belibbld if it “knew
or should have knowirminors were being served alcohol, holding instead that “[tjhe ‘knowingly
furnished’ standard requires actual knowledge on the part of the social host asl dppogpeited

knowledge imposed as a result of the relationstip2 A.2d at 1212t is not enough to suspect

case not addressing the Social Host Doctrine. 808 A.2d at 182. This casefrast, involves the same “factual
matrix” because the plaintiffs also seek to impose liability under the Séa&iDoctrine.

19



that minors are being served alcohol; rather, the defendant “must have ‘intinteme
substantially aided and encouraged the consumption of alcohol by a minor gues$d. (quoting
Macleary, 817 F.2d at 184)). Like the defendants found not to be social hos&uilivan Fassett
andMaclearly, Acacia played no role “in the planning of [the party] or the serving, supplying, or
purchasing of liquor.ld. at 1213.Nor did Acacia“substantially aid[ or] encouragearlie’s,
Orrostieta’s, or any other party guest’s liquor consumption; to the contrieeythie national
fraternity inMillard, it specifically counseled and instituted a policy against such activities,
the plaintiffs’ attempt to distinguish the facts éiénom those irsullivanand therelated precedent
are unavailing?

Perhaps recognizing this flaw in their argument, the plaintiffs also arguewhather
Acacia in fact knew of the risk management policy violations is of no moment bexfatise
degreeof control they were exerting over Chapter 8Acacia Opp. at 17But no evidence

supports that statemeithe plaintiffs point to no deposition testimony or documentary evidence

12 The court notes that, contrary to the plaintiffs’ assertions, the evideesendb actually demonstrate that Acacia
knew or had reason to know about the party at issue or that liquor wowddvbd 0 minors there. Immediately after
the excerpt of theeport that the plaintiffs cite, Mynaugh stated, “[tfjo combat this we hegenized a list for social
gatherings to insure that these gather[ing]s are horitg and we have done away with Kegs which go against our
insurance plan.” Chapter 84 Monthly Repd he plaintiffs claim that

[a]nyone reading these reports would of course understand that Chaptas &mitting to not
checking identifications for social events (and by implication furngshinohol to minors), hosting
open parties without speitfinvitations, and throwing parties with kegs [which] . . . would be in
violation of [Acacia’s] mandatory Risk Management Policy].]

Acacia Opp. at 1415 (citations omitted). But even assuming that was true, the report sieates that in the fall of
2014, several months before Karlie’'s murder, Chapter 84 was represemti@acia that it would no longer have
open parties with opesource alcohol. The plaintiffs assert, “it strains credulity to suggaisftacia, having assumed
the obligation of repeatl contacts to hold Chapter 84 accountable, was not aware of the risk manapgselicies
being broken.” Acacia Opp. at 17. But they cite to no evidence to suppibastetion beyond the party that led to
Chapter 84’s deactivation three years beforethadnonthly report, which again, represents that Chapter 84 would
cease participating in such activities months before Karlie’s musgerNTP Marble, Inc. v. AAA Hellenic Marble,
Inc., Civ. A. No. 095783, 2012 WL 607975, at *4 (E.D. Pa. Feb. 27, 2qQ1[d)]here must be more than mere
allegations in a memorandum of law to place credibility in issue sgaiuole summary judgment. Specific facts must
be produced.” (citation omitted)). Regardless, an argument that Acacialddave known” that Chapter &as
serving alcohol to minors is insufficient undaullivan

20



showing that Acacia had the power to monitor Chapter 84 contemporanémsisfyposed tthe
monthly reports received after the faot to dictate how the Chapter conducted itself tegay.
To the contraryAcacia’s representative@eposition testimony demonstrates that Acacia would
provide feedback, advice, and reminders to help Chapter 84 “hold themzeteemtable” for
their actionsSeeMcGovern Dep. at 115:2816:2 (“We don’t— Acacia Fraternity, Incorporated
doesn’t work to ensure that [parties are] iratdy. That would be something, you know, that the
Chapter is dmg.”); see also idat 116:1221 (“We don’t have oversight and control to that extent,
and also-- | mean, in general, when Chapters are coming to us and saying, ‘We wameto
recognize maybe we could be doing some things differently here,” we terahtdomvork with
them, encourage them, and work along that way, instead of going back and . . . punishing or
something like that for things they did in the past that theyzezhlshould have been done
differently.”). Equally problematic, the plaintiffs do not cite any caselaw holding that a national
fraternity becomes liable for all harms stemming from chapter misconduct if dises®isome
level of control over the respeatichapter, anthe court has not found any such precedent in its
own researchCertainly, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court dictated no such reSultiran
In the alternative, the plaintiffs argue that Acacia assumed a duty putsi&aation 877
of theRestatement (Second) of Torégacia Opp. at 9Thatsection states,
For harm resulting to a third person from the tortious conduct of another, one is
subject to liability if he: . .
(d) controls, or has a duty to use care to control, the conduct of the other, who is
likely to do harm if not controlled, and fails toeggise care in the controlt o
(e) has a duty to provide protection for, or to have care used for the protection of,
third persons or their property and confides the performance of the duty to the
other, who causes or fails to overt harm by failing to perform the duty.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 8A8suming here that Chapter 84’s conduct tow#adie

was tortious, as to subsection (d), again, the evidence does not show that AcaciacGitagiter
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84. The plaintiffs point to evidence that Chapter 84 provided monthly reports to Acacia, in
connection with a debt repayment plan, and that Chapter 84 would include information about its
risk management practices in those repdktacia Opp. at 23 (quotingMcGovernDep.). But
that evidence demonstrates that, if anything, Acacia worked with Chapter 84 to penuds
checkins, advice, and feedback, ribat Acacia controlled th€éhapter'sday-to-day activitiesld.
Nor doegheevidence suggest that Acacia had the poweotdemporaneoushiscipline Chapter
84 for any failure to comply with itRisk ManagemenPolicy. As the plaintiffs acknowledge in
their brief, McGovern explicitly testified, “we can’t ensure or control the thingsttiese guys [in
Chapter 84] are doing on a daily basis . . . . We do the best wé/eany to educate on why not
and this is the reason why, and then we haeespad] when violations happenld. at 2-3
(quoting McGovern Dep. at 119:19-25ge also idat 13 (“| would say encouraging and helping
to hold accountablefou know, ‘Hey, this is coming updave you done this thing that we talked
about last week when walked?’Just keeping things that they need to take care of top of mind.”
(quotingMcGovern Dep. at 13123-144:2). No part of this testimonguggests that these monthly
reports bestowed upon Acacia “the resources to monitor the activities afhaisters
contemporaneously with the everiillivan 572 A.2d at 1213and there is certainly no evidence
that Acacia had contemporaneous knowledge of the party on Febr8ar30a5 Likewise, as to
subsection (e), there is no eviderear caselaw-that sggests in offering advice and assistance
to Chapter 84, Acacia somehow took on a duty to protect third party gti€éigpter 84’s parties.
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 877(e).

The plaintiffs suggest that thlegheny County Court of Common Pleas’ holding that
section 877 applied iM.L. v. University of Pittsbuty 26 Pa. D. & Cith 106 (1995)abrogated

on other groundbyElias v. Lancaster General Hosgl, 710 A.2d 65 (Pa. Super. 1998), supports
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such a holding here, but that case involved a widiffgrent set of facts and theory of liability.
M.L. held the chapter of the fraternity, “whose premises were used for the gpdriyas thus] a
‘possessor of land’ within the meaning of section 314A(3),” was potentidbhg liar its members’
and theirguests’ sexual assault of the plaintiff on fraterpitgperty 26 Pa. D. & C. 4tlat 111.
The court explicitly distinguishe8ullivanon the grounds that the national fraternity was not a
defendant: “The Supreme Court balanced the cost to universities and the natia@mablfrat
organizations (who are not defendants herein) with what it perceived weagvésl rare,
regrettable incidets’ and concluded that ‘the increased cost which would enure to such bodies
could seriously impede the mission of these institutions . ld. &t 113 (quotingsullivan 572
A.2dat1213. Thus,M.L. is inapplicable to the plaintiffs’ claim against A@c

The plaintiffs also argue that Section 323 of the Restatement (Second) of gpigs a
here. Acacia Opp. at #Q1. Section 323 provides as follows:

One who undertakes, gratuitously or for consideration, to render services to another

which he should recognize as necessary for the protection of the other’s person or

things, is subject to liability to the other for physical harm resulting from hiséailu

to exercise reasonable care to performing his undertaking, if

(a) his failure to exercise such eancreases the risk of harm, or
(b) the harm is suffered because of the other’s reliance upon the undertaking.

Restatement (Second) of Torts § 3PBe plaintiffs do not provide any analysis about lseation
323, which is generally considered parttgGood SmaritarRule, seePatentas v. United States
687 F.2d 707, M.(3d Cir. 1982)describing appellants’ second argument, under section 323, as
being “based on the familiar tort doctrine of good samaritan liabilitg"at all applicable here.
More importantly,section 323 cannot “be invoked to create a duty where one does ndt exist.

Morena v. South Hills Health Sy462 A.2d 680, 684Pa.1983) (citations omitted)Moreover,

the plaintiffs’ argument is that Acacia undertook to provide services to Cl&fptand thus any
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duty arising fromsection 323 would rumo Chapter 84 or its members, not to unidentified third
parties like Karlie*®

Lastly, the plaintiffs argue that the court must conduct the balancing tabtisstd in
Althaus ex rel. Althaus v. Coherb6 A.2d 1166Ra.2000) to determine whether a duty exists, as
the Superior Court of Pennsylvania didkenner 808 A.2d at 182Acacia Opp. at 1-23. In
Kenner the plaintiff sued multiple defendants, including a national fraternity, farusenjuries
he suffered during a hazing ritu808 A.2dat 180.The Court of Common Pleas dismissed the
national fraternity from the action und8ullivan but the Superior Court reversed, holding the
case was distinguishable because it did not involve the Social Host DoSeaie. at 182 (“As
this case does not involve the Social Host Doctridlivan does not bind us in the present
matter.”). The court then applied th&lthaustest, under which the court balanc&ql) the
relationship between the parties; (2) the social utility of the actor’s cgn@)¢chenature of the
risk imposed and foreseeability of the harm incurred; (4) the consequences of impdeigg a
upon the actor; and (5) the overall public interest in the proposed solutthr{guotingAlthaus
756 A.2d at 116P TheKennercourt concludedhat theAlthausfactorssupported imposing a duty
in that case, because (1) the plaintiff paid the national entity an applidag and signed a
membership agreement, creating a contractual relationship between the gajtigswas
undisputed that a national fraternity should seek to prevent hazing; (3) the fidamjtifies were
foreseeable to the national fraternity, because pledges at other chaptersvimgsiyr suffered

similar injuries or even died from hazidt(4) the consequences of imposing a duty would be

13 Not surprisingly, the plaintiffs do not cite to any cases in which a beldtthat section 323 applied to a fraternity.
Another court in this district rejected a plaintiff's argument thatdéfendant university was liable under section 323
for injuries she suffered after drinking at a fraternity partaoker v. Lehigh University300 F. Supp. 234, 237 (E.D.
Pa. 1992).

14 As to the foreseeability point, the plaintiffs represent that “fidlets underling the 2011 incident [that led to Chapter
84’s deactivation] are strikingly similar to the case at bar: memberlagft€r 84 hosted an ‘Acacia party’ at a house
decorated with ‘Acacia fraternity paraphernalia,” where individuasewcharged5 for a cup that granted them
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minor, because the national fraternity had already taken steps to protgesggdanning hazing;
and (5) there was a substantial public interest in preventing individuals friogp @lysuffering
seriousinjury to become a member of a fraterniky. at 182-83. But this case, unlik&enner
undoubtedly involves the Social Host Doctrine, an&sliivan notAlthaus controls.

Even if Sullivandid not control, this court disagrees with the plaintiffs’ asegent that the
Althausfactors warrant a holding that a national fraternity owes third partiety éodorotect them
from another third party’s intentional bad acts off fraternity propétinst, unlike inKenney
neither Karlie nor the bad actor (enner, the fraternity members who hazed the plaintiff; here,
Orrostieta) had any relationship, contractual or otherwise, with AcKeidie and Orrostieta
attended a party where members of Chapter 84 lived, which they had decoratektadia
paraphernasi and symbolsThere is no evidence, or even an allegation, that any employee of the
national organization attended (or even knew of) the party, nor is there anjiati¢gat the $5
entrance fee Karlie paid was then distributed to the national organiza¢cond, there is social
utility to a national organization providing guidance to its members on how best to avoid enderag
and/or binge drinking, which would be undermined if providing such guidance would render the
national entity a social host liablfor all the chapter's miscondué Third, recognizing the
inherent risks of underage and binge drinking, as discussed further below, it was not at al
foreseeable that a minor would murder another minor with whom he was in a wrakatibnship

after drinking at a fraternity partyFourth, holding Acacia liable here could have serious

unfettered access to three kegs of beer. Not surprisingly, individuas tinedegal drinking age were permitted entry
and furnished alcohol. Apparently, the only difference betwee®i% party and the February 2015tpareceding
Karlie's death was that the police responded and interrupted the paciciaAOpp. at H12 (internal citations
omitted). Of course, there is no reason to believe that if police had notjtéezl the party, it would have ended with
one paty guest murdering another. Thus, the facts here are criticallyatifféihan those iKKenner in which the
national fraternity knew that hazing at other chapters had led to pledgesissinjuries and even deaths. 808 A.2d at
179.

15 Of course, even thplaintiffs do notontestthat underSullivan a national entity that provided no such guidance
would be immune from suit.
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conseqguences, as it would mean that national organizations could fateafpienitiess liability
for harms suffered off campus exclusively between-fnaternity memilers where the local
chapter violated the national fraternity’s rules, even if the nationay éxatit no contemporaneous
knowledge of the factifth, the public interest in preventing underage and binge drirkargl
the potential harms that could resuis in conflict with the public interest in not imposing
excessive costs on institutions, like fraternities, that the Pennsylvania Su@mamnt recognizi
“serve a vital role in the development of our yout8lillivan 572 A.2d at 1213Thus, upon
balancing all the factors, ithcourt concludes that, even if applicabdthauswould not support
imposing a duty here.

The plaintiffs propose this court adopt a standandrecognized by any Pennsylvania
court—that a national fraternal organization may be liable for harms aghitgt guest suffers at
the hands of another thighrty off fraternity property, merely because the national organization
engaged in regular communications with the local chapter about its risk manageango¢pion
some genetdevel.!® The court cannot do so without some guidance from a Pennsylvania court
supporting such an extension of the current law.

2. Proximate Cause
Even if Acacia hd a duty to Chapter 84’s party guests, the facts here would not support a

finding of proximate causéf noreasonablgury could find that proximate cause existed, taking

16 Although the bulk of the plaintiffs’ argument is focused on Acacials in assisting Chapter 84 to get back on
campus after & 2011 deactivation, they also suggest that the holdingsliivanandMillard potentially should not
apply to small fraternities at alheeAcacia Opp. at 16 (“Beyond that, Acacia is not by any means a massive national
fraternal organization. There aaemere twentynine chapters and three leadership consultants employed to service
those chapters. Each consultant is responsible for [fewer] than ten shBpisxd on what is outlined above, this case
simply cannot be lumped in with the factsSafilivanor Millard.”). Nothing in either of those decisions suggests that
courts should evaluate the size of or resources available taatiomal fraternity in deciding whether to impute
liability. Instead, the Pennsylvania Supreme Court held that the redhijppbetween national fraternities and their
“respective units” is “totally antithetical to the heightened duty [thenpfés] importuned [the Court] to accept.”
Sullivan 572 A.2d at 1213%ee also Millard611 A.2d at 720 (“[W]e note our supreme coas inequivocally stated

that a National Fraternal Organization is not under a duty to control thigiestdf its members.”).
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all facts in the best possible light to the plaintiff, the court must decide the isdtiSikeHeeter
v. Honeywell Irit, Inc., 706 F. App’x 63, 66 (3d Cir. 2017) (“Because we hold that a jury could
not reasonably differ as to whether [the defendartnduct proximately caused [the plaintiff’'s]
harm in this case, the District Court did not err in deciding the issue itself.”)
In Pennsylvania, courts use the Restatement (Second) of "Buttstantial factor” test to
determine whether proximate causésts.Ford v. Jeffries379 A.2d 111, 114 (Pa. 197(&)ting
to Restatement (Second) of Torts § 43Mhen determining whether negligent conduct is a
substantial factor in producing the injury,
[t]he following considerations are in themselves or in combination with one another
important in determining whether the actor's conduct is a substantial factor in
bringing about harm to another:
(a) the number of other factors which contribute in producing the harm and the
extent of the effect which theyatie in producing it;
(b) whether the actor’s conduct has created a force or series of forces wehich ar
in continuous and active operation up to the time of the harm, or has created a
situation harmless unless acted upon by other forces for which the actor is not
responsible; [and]
(c) lapse of time.
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 43&ction 433”) Whether a third party’s conduct breaks the
chain of causation depends on whether the conduct amounted to a supersedjny caosze
intervening foce “A superseding cause is an act of a third person or other force which, by its
intervention, prevents the actor from being liable for harm to another whichntasedent
negligence is a substantial factor in bringing aboibs der Heide v. Com., Démf Transp, 718
A.2d 286, 288Pa.1998) (quoting Restatement (Second) of Torts Sadigiting Trude v. Martin
660 A.2d 626, 634Pa. Superl995)). To determine whether a subsequent occurrence is an
intervening or superseding cause, courts consider “whether the force is opedspendently of

any situation created by the first actor’'s negligence and whether ihdgnaal result of that

situation.” Trude 660 A.2dat 632 (citations omitted)Not every thirdparty criminal actis a
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supereding caus€'[T]he proper focus is not on the criminal nature of the negligent act, but instead
on whether the act waso extraordinary as not to be reasonably foreseealftewell v.
Drumheller, 653 A.2d 619, 624R@.1995).

In Heeter the Third Circuitapplied gction 433 to affirm thdistrict court’s holding that
there was ngroximate cause whethe plaintiffalleged that the failure of the alarm system she
purchased from the defendants allowed an intruder to steal firearms from her nichd)evthen
used to murder her son in a different locatit®6 F. App’xat65.The plaintiff told the defendants
when discussing potentially purchasing an alarm system that she wasedredeout a neighbor,
the eventual intruder and murderwhohad a “tortured past” and a “conscious disregard for the
well-being of others and in particular, her son, Bryan Hariid.”(quoting case record)n
response, the defendants confirmed that the alarm system would alerirtestiately if there was
a breakin, and the plaintiff agreed to purchase the systeimDespite those assurances, the
neighbor was able to break into the lerdisable the alarm, and steal the plaintiffs’ firearms,
without the plaintiff receiving any notificatioid.

The Third Circuit agreed that all threection 433 factors weighed against the existence of
proximate causerirst, “myriad other mattersfall relating to the decisions the murderer had
made—]had a far greater effect on the murder of Harris than the conduct of theddefs].”Id.
at 67 see also Van MastigB893 Pa. Supeat 151 (“None of the defendants put a knife in [the
murderer’s] handNone of the defendants were responsible for the act of killhgvjctim]. A
court determined that [the murderer] alone was responsible for the actual mytidenaftim].”).
Second,[t]he chain of events on the day of Harris’s murder did not begin with the faulty alar
system.”706 F. App’xat 67.Finally, the passage of time between the failure of the alarm system

and the murder although “not dispositive on its own,work[ed] in concer with the other two
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considerations to negate proximate cause in this céde(titing Am. Truck Leasing, Inc. v.
Thorne Equip. C0583 A.2d 1242, 124314 Pa. Superl991)).In addition to these factors, the
court noted that the neighbor’s cared “was not foreseeable and constitute[d] a superseding cause.
Intervening criminal action is noper se superseding, but becomes so when, ‘looking
retrospectively from the harm through the sequence of events by whick praduced, it is so
extraordinary as not to have been reasonably foreseédtdle(quotingVattimo v. Lower Bucks
Hosp., Inc, 465 A.2d 1231, 1237 (Pa. 19&hdciting Powell 653 A.2dat624).

In holding proximate cause did not exist over the plaintiff's claintdaeter thedistrict
court relied on the Superior Court’s holdingBmown v. Philaelphia Colege of Osteopathic
Medcine, 760 A.2d 863 (2000), which igcourt likewise finds applicable here. that case, the
defendant hospital misdiagnosed the plaintiffs’ baby with syphilis, whichtdethe wife
discovering herhusband’s infidelity,the couple frequently fightingthe husbandphysicaly
abusingthe wife, and the wife losing her job as a police officer after firing a gthrediusband.

760 A.2dat 865-67.The court held that it was “abundantly clear” that preexisting problems in the
plaintiffs’ relationship “had a farrgater effect in producing the harm” than the erroneous test
result.ld. at 869.The fact that the hospital’s incorrect test results exacerbated those relationship
problems did not change that result.

The plaintiffs cite to cases which they assert dematssthat “Pennsylvania courts have
long held that violence and injury, and even criminal misconduct, are foreseealdqumntes
stemming from the service of alcohaohtacia Opp. at 24citing Corcoran v. McNeal161 A.2d
367 (Pa. 1960) (imposing liability on bar owner for injuries suffered during attack qndvaises
during which bar staff repeatedly ignored requests for h8ighelin v. Goldbergl46 A.2d 648

(Pa. Super. 1958) (holding bar was subject to Dram Shop liability for overserviog pdio
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caused plaintiff injuries in bar fightRommel v. Schambachdrl A. 779(Pa.1887) (imposing
liability on bar owner who saw patron light other patron on fire and “did not interfere &cprot
his guest from so flagrant an outragé”Cassaro v. Zodiac Tour and Travel IngPa. D. & C.4th
132, 138-39 (Lackawanna Ct. Com. PI. Oct. 10, 1989) (holding proximate cause existed for claims
relating to fatal car accident intoxicated minor drigausedt Walsh v. Murphy40 Pa. D. & C.
3d 98, 102 BucksCt. Com. PI. 1982) (imposing liability on tavern for stabbing injuries sustained
in bar fight, based on duty as landowner, knowledge of bad actor’s prior threats with knife, and
Dram Shop liability); Arnold v. Lemon20 Pa. D & C.3d 751Cplumbia Ct.Com.PI. 1981)
(allowing tavern patron to seek damages from tavern for injuries sustained ighbdeicause
fight was not “highly extraordinary”). But the matter at hand does not ask whie¢héefendants
should be held liable for a drunken bar fight on their own property or for a drunk drodiagat.
To the contrary, the plaintiffs seek to hold the defendants liable for Orrosbetiégegmurder of
their daughteawayfrom the partya significant period of time aftéhey left. None of the cited
case support such a holding.

Nor doesthe plaintiffs’ argument that “all parties seemingly agree that drinking, and
underage drinking in particular, is risky behavior and/or can lead to violenagy o1 deatly

Acacia Opp. aR6-27 change the analysi&.Certainly, individuals, and especially minors, who

" The plaintiffs also cite to New Jersey casel®ae Steele v. Kerrigahi48 N.J. 1, 1415 (1997) (assessing how to
apportion &ult between minor tortfeasor and tavern under New Jersey Licensedlidddeverage Liability Act);
State v. Kelly97 N.J. 178, 194 n.5 (1984) (discussing connection between alcohol and faneifyceiin criminal
case about whether expert testimony lmatteredwoman’s syndrome was admissible in murder trial, with no
discussion of civil liability for serving alcoholBtate v. Stasjo78 N.J. 467, 47&7 (1979) (assessing effects of
alcohol on criminal intent with no discussion of civil liability causa}i

8 The plaintiffs assert that “McGovern and all members of Chapter 8#sddpn this case agree that the service of
alcohol can be risky and/or lead to violence, injury, or death.” Acacia &pp3. McGovern denied during his
deposition that drinkinglcohol would increase the risk of violence, stating instead that apvfiie] would say is that

a person who is, you know, abusive is maybe likely to be abusive'dgai@overn Dep. at 184:24.85:4. He further
testified, in reference specifically to Kiar's decision to drink, that drinking alcohol can be “risky behavilit."at
182:14. Chapter 84 member Jesse DiVento agreed during his deposition thah¢ei@nd fights and things like
that,” in addition to unspecified “death and injury [and] cows®lehings,” could result from alcohol consumption.
Dep. of Jesse DiVento at 45:26:2, Doc. No. 1529. Member Adam Krull likewise agreed during his deposition
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drink to excess suffer an increased risk of haBut this is not a case about a drunk driving
accident, or a bar fight, or even a sexual assault at a fraternity Mbisses. a case about an abusive
boyfriend who, after months of physical and psychological abuse, cruelly, brutall\gresselessly
murdeed his girlfriend, who had seemingly been a victim of his violent temper throughout the
relationship.

Applying the factors the court describedTirude first, Orrostieta’s abuse “operat[ed]
independently” from Acacia’s and Chapter 84’s purported conduct, because his abusive behavior
began months before the pafje plaintiffs argu€albeit in their response to Chapter 84’s motion
for summary judgmenthateven hough Orrostieta had been violent towKatlie, that violence
did not reach the level of murder until after the Februa gary. SeePls. Mem. of Law in
Support of its Mot. Opposing Acacia Frat[ern]ity Chapter Number 84, Colin Herbthdligale
Quiles’ Mot. for Summ. J. (“Chapter 84 Oppd} -2, Doc. No. 1531 (“Evidence has been
developed through this litigation that Orrostieta physically abused Karlle fae was intoxicated
and that this physical abuse steadily escal@edbstieta, haever, had never raped and murdered
Karlie until the fagrant and egregious violations of the law and mandatory risk management
policies by [Chapter 84] provided the spark for him to explodeBi)t as the plaintiffs
acknowledgeOirrostieta’s abuse waseadily increasing in its severjignd there is nothing, other

than their conclusory allegation, to suggest that it was something abaitahel at the Chapter

that alcohol could make someone “rowdy and [] violent.” Krull Dep. at3@:2:3. Member TyleWard testified that
alcohol could cause someone “to get into a car accident and injure sontiedsiogdgy. Or somebody could, like, fall

into somebody, that way.” Dep. of Tyler Ward at 7528 Doc. No. 153. He further testified that “[sjJomeone could
getinto a fight, but [he] d[id]n’t know if that specifically isif you could say that's specifically from the alcohol.”

Id. at 76:1215. Lastly, Mynaugh denied that he learned at a university event theihtsefcohol to minors could

lead to violence.” Bp. of Kevin Mynaugh at 34-11, Doc. No. 1521. He then agreed that “service of alcohol to [a]
minor can lead to violence just as much as it can also lead to violence if it sabnadiove the age of 21ld. at
35:22-36:6. Thus, these witnesses testifito the general dangers of consuming alcohol, such as car accidents or
fights, but none of them testified that they would have expected thefsoime that occurred here to result from
drinking.

31



84 partywhich caused Orrostieta to “explodat a way he had not done befo€. course, here

has also been no evidenicéroducedthat any member of Chapter 84 knew Orrostikttalone

knew of his violent tendencies, which would have arguably made it foreseeable to them that he
could become abusive if intoxicated.

Secondmurder is not the “normal result” of underage drinkiggery weekend on college
campuses across America, countless studantsthe risks of underage binge drinking, which
includes the “normal,” if often tragic, risks of alcohol poisoning, car acadskp and falls, rad
even sexual assauBut no reasonable finder of famuld include murder on that lidhdeed, as
with the murderer itHeeter Orrostieta’sown decision tdbeat and strangliéarlie on February 8
2015was so extraordinary and so beyond the realmy€ansequence a reasonabdegonwould
anticipate from underage drinking, that no reasonable factfinder could dishgteie wasa
superseding cause that breaks the chain of causation.

Of course, the plaintiffs here do not seek damages for harms that a party gaest suf
fraternity property or at the hands of fraternity members. Such distinchiagtsery well call for
a different resultSee Heeter706 F. App’x at 67 (“Had the harm to Harris occurred near the
Heeters’ residence, which ADT waentracted to protect, the question of proximate cause might
well have been one for a jury to decide. Harm inflicted this far from the residemcmwther
matter.”). But isolated to these particular faetshere the crime took place off fraternity property
entirely between nofraternity membersafter a party of which the national fraternity had no
knowledge—the court cannot conclude that the law supports imposing liabilitydesgite the

tragic events which occurred

19 The plaintiffs devote part of their briefing in response to Acacia’samdor summary judgment to describing
Orrostieta’s purported conduct towards Karlie at the party. Acacia Opp-22.20f course, Acaciawhich did not
know about the partywould have no way to know about any of this activity.
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3. Vicarious Liability

The plaintiffs acknowledge that “Pennsylvania courts have not determined whether a
national fraternity may be held liable on the basis of an agency relationsidgrivate this court
to allow such a theory of liability to move forward hekeacia Opp. at 3836.As a federal court
sitting in diversity over causes of action that are the within the fundamentahprmesof the
state, this court declines to do #aanything, SullivanandMillard suggest that the Pennsylvania
Supreme Court would not agree thdtaternity chapter acts as the agent of the national efssity.
the Sullivancourt recognized, fraternities are “[b]y definition . . . organizations [to&]based
upon fraternal, not paternal relationships72 A.2d at 1213Although the plaintiffs allege that
Acacia, unlike thenationalfraternity inSullivan exercised control over Chapter 84, as discussed
above, no reasonable finder of fact could agree that the evidence supports such a conclusion.

In support of their argumenthe plaintiffs point to the facts that a chapter member is
consideredo be a member of Acagistudents and fraternity members referred to the house where
the party was held as the “Acacia hals€hapter 84 decorated the house with Acacia
parapherndd, chapters paid Acacia dues, Acacia bhageneral oversight body, and Acacia had a
Risk Management Policy that applied to its chap#ecacia Opp. at 3232.But the plaintiffs make
no effort to show that any of these features are unique to Acacia apie€B4, as opposed to
any fraternity and its local chapteBee, e.gAbraham v. Alpha Chi Omeg@81 F. Supp. 2d 396,
401 (N.D. Tex. 2011) (discussing general practice of fraternity and soraitybers displaying
Greek letters of their organization$)acco v. Sigma Alpha Epsilon Fraternitfo. Civ. 1:05
145-GZS,2006 WL 890686, at *2 (D. Méar. 31, 2006) (“The national fraternity establishes the
dues, fines and fees structure for its local chapte&mijth v. Delta Tau Delta, In® N.E.3d 154,

163 (Ind. 2014) (“There is no designated evidentiary material that shows that the nedtenaity
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had a right to exercise direct deorday oversight and control of the behawaoidactivities of the
local fraternity and its member&ike Yost[v. Wabash College3 N.E.3d 509 (Ind. 2014)], the
specific duty undertaken in regards to the policies on hazinguaddrage and irresponsible
drinking was an educational one without any power of preventative contRbgers v. Sigma
Chi Intl Fraternity, 9 N.E.3d 755, 765 (Ind. Ct. App. 2014) (“Rogers correctly notes there were
fraternity ‘letters and memorabilia’ inside the house, as was the fitgtehaickbook, but he offers

no argument or explanation why theseounted to manifestationsdm the agent’s principal

that could give rise to apparent agency.” (internal citations omitt8thi v. Beta Rho Alumni
Ass’n, Inc, 621 P.2d 632 (Or. App. 1980) (declining to impose vicarious liability even though
“duesof the local fraternity were paid to the national fraternity in Oxford, Ohio fduednational
fraternity set the rules and regulations for the local fraternitineed, the national fraternity
defendant inMillard counseled against the use of alcohnd had a policy that forbid illegal
alcohol consumption, but the court did not even discuss whether such considerations varte rele
to an agency analysi611 A.2d at719 & n.42° The plaintiffs point to the specifics of chapter
funding and national leadership to warrant a different result, but they point to no casétaw
Greek lifecontext that suggests those considerations are at all rel@cacia Opp. at 33his is
especially true as to their apparent agency theory, as they do not purport to havidemoedo
suggest thalcaciatook anyaction as tdarlie to lead her to believe that Chapter 84sits agent.

See Turner Hydraulics, Inc. v. Susquehanna CGolxirp, 606 A.2d 532, 534Pa. Superl992)

(“Apparent authority exista/here a principalby words or conducieads people with whom the

20 |n the @urt of Common Pleas, the national fraternity sought dismissal fhe case, in part, based on the fact
“[tlhat the members of the local fraternity [we]re not agentheftational fraternity, nor d[id] they have authority to
act on behalf of the natioh&aternity.” Millard v. Osborne 12 Pa. D. & C. 4th 637, 641 (Crawford Ct. Com. PL.
1991).
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alleged agent deals to believe that the principal has granted the agent ab#horishe purports
to exercise.” (citation omitted¥).
C. Chapter 84
1. Proximate Cause

Like Acacia, Chapter 8d4ontendghat, as a matter of law, their purported conduct could
not be the proximate cause of Orrostieta murdekiagdie. Mem. of Law in Suppof Acacia
Fraternity Chapter Number 84, Colin Herbine and Nigale Quiles’ Mot. for Sum{iChapter 84
Br.”) at 8 Doc. No. 1491 (“[T]he Restatement (Second) states specifically that in that specific
situation, if the harm is intentionally caused (such as third degree maraks) not within the
scope of risk created by the negligentawct then the defendant is relieved of liability.” (citing
Restatement (Second) of Torts § 42EBrd, 379 A.2dat 115))22 The plaintiffs assert in response
that “[tlhe question here is not the foreseeability of murder but rateéoréseeability of harm.”
Chapter 84 Opp. at 1th support of that argument, they citelimde in which the Superior Court
held, “the peculiar way in which an injury may result is not material so longeas tas a
foreseeable probability of injury to one within the ambit of danger.” 660 A.2d at 632+&B0
omitted);see also Ford379 A.2d at 114" If the actor’s conduct is a substantial factor in bringing

about harm to another, the fact that the actor neither foresaw nor should havenftinesgtent

2! Having held that Acacia cannot be vicariously liable for Chapter 84's contaatptirt need not assess Acacia’s
argument that, if the court found a princiagkent relationship, any illegal conduct (like serving alcohol to minors)
would fall outside the scope of the agency relationship.

22 The plaintiffs also respond to Chapter 84’s argument that proximate daes not exist over harms by a third
party’s intentional misconduct by suggesting that the murder was ntigmial. SeeChapter 84 Opp. at 24 (“Third
degree murder is not an intentional killing but one committed with edticst degree murder, on the other hand, is
an intentional killing.” (internal citation omitted)). To clarify, “the abseantspecific intent to kill is not an element
of third degree murder; rather, such crime is an intentional act, charadtbyi malice, that results in death, intended
or not.” Commonwealth v. FisheB0 A.3d 11861191 (Pa. 2013). Applied here, Orrostieta may not have specifically
intended that his attack on Karlie would result in her death, buicheedtainly intend to beat and strangle her,
ultimately resulting in her death.
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of the harm or the manner in which it occurred does not prevent him from beingi@hleting
Churbuck v. Union R.R. Gdl10 A.2d 210 (Pa. 195%)uoting Restatement of Torts § 435§1))

In Trude the plaintiff sought damages from the owneaaéstaurant after he fell from a
brick wall with a loose capston@60 A.2dat 6B. The restaurant owner argued that another man’s
illegal act of pushing the plaintiff from the wall broke the chain of causatiathéwourt rejected
thatargument, reasoning that although the man’s push was an intervening fegeamrisequences
of this act were not so extraordinary or unforeseeable as to render it a sugecsedie.’ld. at
632 (citation omitted) Likewise, in Ford, the Pennsylvania Stgme Court rejected the
defendant’s argument that his negligent failure to maintain his propényately leading to a
fire that spread to the plaintiff’'s property, was not proximately related to #uetiffis harm
“simply because the actual physifaice that started the fire [wa]s unknown . . 379 A.2dat
114.TheCourt quoted the Comment to the Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 442B,

any harm which is in itself foreseeable, as to which the actor has created or

increased the recognizablekiiss always ‘proximate,” no matter how it is brought

about, except where there is such intentionally tortious or criminal intervention, and

it is not within the scope of the risk created by the original negligent conduct.
Id. at 115 (quothg Restatemer(Second) of Torts § 422Bmt. B). The plaintiffs interpret this
caselaw as holding that because violence, injury, and death generally aredblesonsequences
of consuming alcohol, proximate cause exists over Orrostieta’s conductKar@'s
correspoding death, even if Chapter 84 could not have predicegaréitise nature of that violence
or death.

But precedent does not support such a seemingly limitless interpretati®eilly v.
Tiergarten Inc, 633 A.2d 209Pa. Superl993), the Superior Court of Pennsylvania held that the

defendants’ negligent provision of alcobothe minor plaintiff under the Dram Shop Act was not

the proximate cause of injuries the minor suffered after being shot by pafiiee.consuming
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alcoholthat all three defendants provided, the plaintiff walked home, where he got in an@irgume
with his father, which culminated in him pulling a knife, cutting himself, and sigolis father

into a fireplaceld. at209. When the police arrived, the plaintiff refused to surrender the knife,
and they were forced to shoot him, causing severe and permanent imjLiridge court agreed
with the defendants that the plaintiff's own intentional, violent actions were satedrom the
service of alcohol that proximate cause did not extend to his injidies.210.

The plaintiffs acknowledge th&eilly “involve[d] an injury that [wa]s far removed from
the service of alcohol both temporally and geographically,” but then offer only dusonc
statement that “[\Wile the criminal act [here] occurred in a geographically different place it was
hardly remote and the chain of events is clearly more direct when comp&eitlyé6 Chapter 84
Opp. at 14The court cannot agree with the plaintiffs’ distinctiéirst, like in Reilly (and unlike
in all the cases the plaintiffs citgheconfrontation that caused the underlying haichnot occur
at the location wherKarlie and Orrostieta consumed alcohol, but only after they returned home
to Karlie's dormitory.Also like in Reilly, the plaintiffs do not suggest that any defendant had any
additional involvement withKarlie or Orrostieta after they left the partillersville SOFat 11
51-54; Pls. Resp. tMlillersville SOF at{51-54.Second, regardless of any factual distinctions,
Reilly disproves the plaintiffs’ argument that proximate cause always existsases involving
violence, injury, or death, simply because individuals (like the deposed Chapter 84 members)
recognize that alcohol consumptipnsesa general risk of their occurrenc€ertainly, there are
situations in which serving alcohol, especially to minors, exposes the consursks tiriwhich
the provider must be held responsilimr accidents and bar fights undoubtedly fit withiatth

framework.Likewise, this court agrees with the Court of Common Pleas’ analyMisLirthata
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rape at a fraternity partgerpetuated by fraternity membassa foreseeable result of underage
binge drinking. 26 Pa. D. & C.4th at 112.

But, as prior coud have recognized, the lalsawsthe line &a third party’s extraordinary
criminal behaviorPowell 653 A.2dat624 (“Instead, the proper focus is not on the criminal nature
of the negligent act, but instead on whether the actsewagtraordinary asot to be reasonably
foreseeable.”)Trude 660 A.2dat 632 (“[T]he consequences of this act were not so extraordinary
or unforeseeable as to render it a superseding causkbe)plaintiffs argue that tHeeillydecision
“want[s] of any substantive anaig.” Chapter 84 Opp. at 1But the court agrees with the Superior
Court and with the Acacia and Chapter 84 defendaatsl, indeed, even the plaintiflseeAcacia
Opp. at 24 (stating wrongful intervening act “does not become a superseding calsdookieg
retrospectively from the harm through the sequence of events by whick fraduced, it is so
extraordinary as not to have been reasonably foreseeable.” (qliotidg 660 A.2d at 632;
Rabutino v. Freedom State Realty Co.,,I809 A.2d 933, 942Pa. Super. 200P)—that there
must be a line at which point a thiparty’s intentional, extraordinary misconduct cuts off the
chain of causatioR® Otherwise, a social host could face seemingly limitless liability for at'gues
action, no matter how horrendous or unforeseeable, even after that guest leaves .tidégarty
court agrees with the defendatttat the law cannot possibly call for such a resiltimately, the
court need not decide precisely where that line falls, because no caselaw suggeatstian

exists over a thirgharty’s murder at an entirely new locatihAs the plaintiff$ themselves state,

23 The plaintiffs rely on the sameses involving the foreseeability of bar fights as in their Acacia briefs@ cases
are all distinguishable for the reasons discussed above. They likefisence Chapter 84 members’ testimony about
the relationship between alcohol and violence, which the court also disabsses

24 Courts have found proximate cause over harms a plaintiff suffers fronaaaident involving an intoxicated minor
driver. See Cassarol Pa. D. & C.4th at 138 (“[I|ntoxicated minors are likely to opemad¢or vehicles while under
the influence, creating a foreseeable risk of harm to life and property.” (&itimgni Ass’n v. Sullivan535 A.2d
1095 (Pa. Super. 1987)). To put it another way, drunkenly operatingoa vediicle does not act “independently” of
being served alcohol and could be considered a “normal result” of that s@irvide.660 A.2d at 632. As discussed
above, the same is not true for an intoxicated minor murdeisngjrifriend.
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“the viciousness and depravity of [Orrostieta’s] conduct here was extraordiGagpter 84 Opp.
at 18 (citation omitted) Certainly, this court agreeénd it is the extraordinary nature of that
conduct that breaks the chain of causation.

The plaintiffs suggest that Chapter 84 “created an atmosphere where injury was an
inevitability,” Chapter 84 Opp. at 18, but they pointnio caselaw that suggests that either a
business or a social host are responsible for intentional crimes an intoxicated mauuitor
commitsat an entirely different location, and no reasonable jury could conclude that muier wa
an inevitable result of draternity party.Certainly, individuals—especially minors-expose
themselves to risk when consuming alcohol, and we, as a society, are geveaed of the nature
of those risksA drunk driving accident? CertainhA drunken fight at the partyRbsoluely. A
rape on fraternity property®adly, yes.But an intentional killing hours later in an entirely separate
location?Neither case law nor our collective experience as a society supports such a@enclus
The plaintiffs would make social hosts liabte fany injury suffered after serving a minor or an
intoxicated person, no matter how remote, unpredictable, or constioaking.The law dictates
no such result.

2. Whether a Genuine Dispute of Material Fact Exists OveWhether any Chapter 84
Member Knew Orrostieta ShovedKarlie and Whether that Changes theé~oreseeability
Analysis
In addition to their argument about the weltognized dangers of alcohol, the plaintiffs

argue that the murder was particularly foreseeable here because abbtafsmtiinder could

conclude that a Chapter 84 member witnessed Orrostieta Klaohe First, the court consider

Similarly, the plaintiffs point to the Superior Court’s decision thatrinor’s setting fire to a neighboring
property was reasonably foreseeable&uilivan 535 A.2d at 1100. The court noted “[t]he propensities of alcohol
consumption tocreate aggressive, combative, and often reckless behavior,” and saw “nieghgadistinction
between the conclusion reached by@uwaginiCourt, i.e., that intoxicated minors are likely to operate motor vehicles
under the influence, creating a foreddeaisk of harm to life and property, and the likelihood that intoxicatednsin
will damage property through other meard."Here, Orrostieta’s actions were not merely aggressive, combative, or
reckless, as in a bar fight; they were willfully vicioasjel, and shocking in a way no one could have predicted.
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whether plaintiffs have produced evidence sufficienttalenge the credibility ofhe Chapter 84
membeis testimony thatthey did not witnes any altercation at the part$econd, the court
considers whether that fact makes any difference to the legal analysis.

At the summary judgment stage, “[wlhen a witness’s credibility is critical to stipgo
the necessary findings of fact, the Dist@icturt must consider whether there are sufficient grounds
for impeachment that would place the facts to which he testifies in legitimate dispute.
SEPTA 479 F.3d 232, 237 (3d Cir. 2007) (citation omittesBe also NTP Marbje2012 WL
607975, at *4(“[T]here must be more than mere allegations in a memorandum of law to place
credibility in issue and preclude summary judgment.” (citation omittétBje,no Chapter 84
member—or indeed, any individual other than Sraittestified hat he witnessed any altercation
between Karlie and Orrostiet&rull testified, “[w]e didn’t notice any issues at the party on
February 7th to the 8thKrull Dep. at 53:1620, and that Chapter 84 “didn’t even know [Karlie]
was there until the media brokdd. at 59:2-4.2° Ward likewise testified that he remembered
people showing him pictures of Karlie and Orrostieta shortly after the mamndefth[ought] to
[him]self that [he] hadn’'t seen them before ev@Vard Dep. at 91:2924. The plaintiffs suggest,
given the circumstances of the party and the shove, that a reasonable &o¢icotifd disbelieve
the Chapter 84 members’ testimahgatthey did not observe any altercation betwKEanlie and
Orrostieta

[Smith] described how Orrostieta “viciously” beratédflie] in a basement filled

with college students drinkingde described having a clear line of sight while he

stood by the keg and DUhis area of the basement, according to Krull, would have

been adjacent to the staircase where party[]goers and Chapter 84 members entered

the basement or left to go upstaiidie basement was “wdlt” according to
another member of Chapter 84.

25 DiVento testified that he was not at the party that night. DiVento Dep. atR24wynaugh likewise testified that
he “wasn’t there” and was “not really aware of the facts of the party.” MynBaghat 15:810.
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Chapter 84 Opp. at 222 (citing responsive statement of facts and deposition testimang).
yet, despitehe purported obviousness of Orrostieta’s assaultashe, they did not identify any
other witness who claimed t@ve seethe incidentCounsel asked Smith specifically during his
deposition whether henewif anyone elssawthealtercation Rather han testify that one of the
several other people in the basement must also havét sgimen the conditions of the partye
testified that, to his knowledge, he was the only @mith Dep. at70:14-17.Smith further
testified that it was a singihove, “just, like, one quick whateverd. at 70:1871:52° Smith did
not tell any Chapter 84 members what he had sdeat 56:2357:2, nor has anyone ever told
him that they also observed the altercatldnat 63:16—1%/

The one other piece of evidence the plaintiffs relyasrtheir assertion that a Chaptet
member must have seen the altercatiorigll’'s deposition testimonywhich they cite for the
proposition that “[w]hen tke] assault occurred, it would have been observed by those sober
brothers assigned to patrol the partls. Resp. to Chapter 84 SGi T 11(citing Krull Dep. at
143:3-147:18)But Krull's testimony established no such fdstst, counsel asked Krull whether
it would be “fair to say that if [an assault] did happen, ithabst likelywould have been witnessed
by one of the brothers, either a sober brother who was monitoring the floor, or a brother who was
just participating at the partyXrull Dep. at 143:39 (emphasis addediKrull answered “[i]f
there wasn'’t a clear sight line to them, there’s probably a space whkeuld have happenedd.

at 143:1517.He then described a corner of the basement that was blocked by either atgias he

26 The court intends in no way to minimize the gravity of Orrostiatafsduct. A man shoving his girlfriend, or any
woman for that matter, is, beyond any dispute, abusive and unpistifighe sole reason the court raises this point is
to show that Smith’sestimony, far from undermining the credibility of the Chapter &nimers’ testimony that they
did not witness the altercation, further supports that he was the on(pthee than Karlie) who noticed Orrostieta’s
inappropriate behavior.

27 Tina testifiedthat earlier in the year at a different party, Orrostieta had behaved unusiwsgblrehing for Karlie.
Tina Dep. at 42:193:14. In contrast to the altercation at the Februa8y Z015 party, multiple people noticed and
began “mocking” himld. The fad that no one, other than Smith, responded in any way to the shove uethes f
credence to the Chapter 84 members’ testimony that no one else witnesskelrdation.
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or anair cooler.ld. at 143:19144:4.Counsel therasked, “[i]f it was in any other section of the
basement, you woultypically be able to see it?” to which Kull answered “[i]t would have been
flagged, yeahif we saw it’ Id. at 144:812 (emphasis added)fter describing the layout of the
basement fuhter, Krull testified, “[b]ut there’s plenty of people thdfét happered-- if something
happened, somebody would have, you knoare than likelysomebody would have sdsic] it.”

Id. at 47:14-18 (emphasis added).

Krull never testified that a soberdther necessarily would have witnessed the altercation
betweenKarlie and OrrostietaRather, he testified that if an assault occurred, “more than likely
somebody would have sgsic] it.” 1d. In asking these questions, counsel did not describe the
duration, severity, or nature of the altercation #watially occurredand Krull himself recognized
that “assault’s a very broad ternttiat covers a wide range of conduct, Krull Dep. at 43:22-44:5,
so there is no way to knowhether Smith’s “quick whatever” description would have changed
Krull's answer Regardless, he only testified that someone (whether a partygoer or a member)
likely would have witnessed it, and Chap8ft would have done something if they dithe
plaintiffs have not identified the time when the altercation occurred, which Chapter 84 members
would have been in the basement at that time, where the members would have bagarirtoel
Orrostieta andKarlie and which direction they would have been facingybetherany members
in the area could have been distracted by one of the other dozens of people in the basieenent at
time.?8 Their argument is that a jury should be permitted to speculate that one of therGdapt
members lied under oath during his dgifion solely because Krull testified thaomebody”
likely would have seen an “assault” of unspecified severity and duradt@nlaw does not allow

such a resulfThus, this evidence in no way discredits the testinafrthe Chapter84 members

28 Krull testified that during a typical Chapter 84rty, there would be between 25 and 30 people in the basement.
Krull Dep. at 30:913.
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that none of them witnessed or otherwise knew about theadlter(testimony that is consistent
with Smith’s testimony that he did not know of anyone else who witnessed tlvatiterand did
not tell any ChapteB4 member about if)and no reasonable trier of famiuld reach a different
conclusion.

Moreover, even if the Chapter 84 members had witnessed the shove, that would not have
madeKarlie's later murder in a differérdocation foreseeabld@he plaintiffs argue thaRabutino
v. Freedom State Realty Co., I809 A.2d 933 (Pa. Super. 2002), “is no different [from this case]
when it comes to the dangerous atmosphere that existed and the violent act precaded by
confrortation that would have been seen by mar@tiapter 84 Opp. at 20.0 the contrary
Rabutinocould not be more different than the facts harehat case, a minor partygoer shot and
killed the plaintiff's son in a racbased fight at a hoté809 A.2dat 935-36.The plaintiff attributed
her son’sdeath, in part, to the defendants’, the hotel management and security companies, failur
to intervene in the partyd. at 936.TheSuperior Court held that the shooting death was foreseeable
to the defendantsvhereemployees of the hotel “heard gunshots audible throughout the hotel being
fired out of hotel windows prior the incident in question and . . . retrieved several of the bullet
casings outside of the hote809 A2dat 940 n.5 (citing deposition testimony). Indeed, a deponent
“described the fearful state of mind of fellow [hotel] employees and anlotthger who refused
to go on the fifth floor.1d. (citation omitted).Thus, the plaintiff's shooting death was undeniably
foreseeable to the defendaras they knew intoxicated minors not only were carrying, but actively
shooting, gung® And again, the intentional bad acRabuting unlike here and iReilly, occurred

while the plaintiff was still on the defendant’s property.

2% In contrast, the Appellate Division of the Superior Court ofvNiersey dismissed negligence claims against a
fraternity for injuries the plaintiff suffered when he was shot edterfnity party, reaming that “there was no evidence
showing that it was reasonably foreseeable that plaintiff would havesheémy a third party while attending the
fraternity event."Peguero v. Tau Kappa Epsilon Local Chapted6 A.3d 565, (N.J. Super. App. Div. 2015).
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Here, in contrastSmith estified that he sought to assi€arlie immediately after the
altercationHe stated that he asked her whether she was alright and what was happershg, and
confirmed that she was finkl. at 53:2354:5.He estimated that he was at the partyafootal of
approximatelytwo hours, and the shove occurred perhaps 30 to 60 minutes after they &irived.
at 92:2-17.Smith then tried to “keep tabs oKarlie and Orrostieta for the remainder of the party
to corfirm there were no additional altercatiot. at 54:14-18.As he was leaving, he sought to
confirm thatKarlie was alright one last time, and he saw she was damgthgOrrostieta and he
“guess|ed] everything [was] goodid. at 58:7#13. He explained, if they were still arguing, it
would have been an issugut they were dancing and everything seemed all right at that point.”
Id. at 58:17-20.

After the party, Smith met with a friend of Kristerand told him what he had witnessed,
and they decided to gim Kristen’s room to tell her what had happenked.at 61:29. Smith
testified that Kristen told him, “we thought something was going on bet{@eostieta and
Karlie] for awhile,” and the group agreed that the next morning, Smith and the friend would
confront Orrostieta about his behaviti. at 61:13-22. Smith testified thaKristenhad not told
him that she believed Orrostieta had been “abus[ikgflie, and if she had they would have done
something “immediately.ld. at 62:5-12.Thus, none of thesadividuals—including the one who
saw the altercatierbelieved that what happened at the party suggestedKtrae was in
imminent dangerf the murder was not foreseeable to Smith, who witnessed the entire event and
spoke tKarlie about it, or to Kristen, who had least heargdrevious incidents between Orrostieta
and her sister, it could not possibly have been foreseeable to a Chapter 84 memweuldho
have had, at best, a small fraction of the information known to those two indiviGestzinly, a

different set of facts where a ChapBdrmember had witnessed Orrostieta attideklie and then
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immediately try to leave with her, or a situation whé&arlie asked for help (or was so
incapacitated that steould not asKor help) could wamnt a different resulBut given the facts
here, evenf a ChapteB4 member knew Orrostieta shovEdrlie, Orrostieta’s later behavior in
beatingand strangling her to death was such an extraordinary departure that-Anabr&mith,
Kristen, or any member of Chapter 84—could have predicted it.
3. Existence of a Special Relationship

Alternatively, the plaintiffs argue that Chapter 84 had a duty to intenesibe a special
relationship existed betweénandKarlie. Chapter 84 Opp. at5231“Generally, absent a pre
existing duty, a party cannot be held liable for the criminal actions of a third pantyever, in
certain situations, a special duty may arisdcCann v. Miller Civ. A. No. 08561, 2009 WL
4641713, at *2 (E.D. Pa. Dec. 7, 200@}ernal citation omitted)Section 314A of the Restatement
(Second) of Torts recognizes four types of relationships that dfeegespecial duties: (1) a
common carrier’s duty to its passengers; (2) an innk&egety to its guests; (3) a possessbr o
land’s duty to members of the public it invites onto that land; and (4) “[o]ne who is required by
law to take or who voluntarily takes the custody of another under circumstundeas to deprive
the other of his normal opportunities for protection” to “the otHeestatement (Second) of Torts
8§ 314A(“section 314A").

On the one hand, the plaintiffs assert that Chapter 84 was a possessor of laselatioder
314A(3).Although such a theory of liability could potentially succeed for injutiesising from
the shove at the party (assuming the plaintiffs could show Chapter 84 could have reasonably
prevented itseeSection 314Acmt. e (“The duty in each case is only one to exercise reasonable
care under the circumstances.”), the plaintiffs are seeking to impodayliahi Chapter 84 for

harms that occurred after Karlie left the pafgction 314A does not allow such a resBke
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Section 314Acmt.c (“Nor is a possessaf land under any such duty to one who has ceased to be
an invitee.”).That is why the plaintiffs’ reliance oM.L. is misplaced in that casgethe plaintiff

was gang rapedn fraternity property by assailants “including members or guests endiait
fraternities.” 26 Pa. D. & C.4th at 111The equivalent here would be if Chapter 84 members
participated in her murder at the fraternity party.

On the other hand, the plaintiffs seem to recognize that nonesafdiien 314A categories
apply to the harms asserted here, and suggest that “although there are foeratsa special
relationships giving rise to a duty of care, the list is not exhauanhd ‘there may be other such
relationghips] . . . where the duty is recognized .[.]> Chapter 84 Opp. at 28uoting Section
314Acmt. b). Unfortunately for the plaintiffs he onecasethey cite for this poin(Coath v. Jones
419 A.2d 1249 (Pa. Super. 198B3))n no way analogou® the facts herén Coath the Superior
Courtreversed the trial coland heldhatthe defendant employer could leble for itsformer
employee’s sexual assault of its customer, where the plaintiff let the esepiolyp her home
because he represented he was there at the defendant’s dikEl®idn2d at 1250-52. The court
held that a special relationship egisthere the defendant’s bmess requireits customers to
admit its employees into their homéd. at 1251-52.Obviously, Chapter 84 played no role in
Orrostieta gaining accessKarlie’s dorm room.

4. Duty to Rescue

The plaintiffsalsoargue that Chapter 8#ad a duty to rescue Karliender Restatement
(Second) of Torts Section 32Xection 322"). Section 322 states,

[i]f the actor knows or has reason to know that by his conduct, whether tortious or

innocent, he has caused such boddym to another as to make him helpless and

in danger of further harm, the acis under a duty to exercise reasonable care to
prevent such further harm.
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Rest (Second) of Torts § 322. Obviously, it was Orrostieta, not Chapter 84, who sulpetieed
to the bodily harm for which the plaintiffs seek damggeamely her brutal strangling deaifo
the extent the plaintiffs are suggesting that Chapter 84 somehow indirasigdsarlie bodily
harm by providing Orrostieta alcohol, the court has already rejected goatemt, and neither of
the cases the plaintiffs cite suggest an “indirect bodily harm” theory ishsmmviable under
section 322 in any evengee Dtullio v. Pizzg Civ. A. No. 895673,1991 WL 129860, *4 (E.D.
Pa.July 11, 1991) (holding defendapotentiallyliable undersection 322for coercingplaintiff
into car at gunpoint, engeng in highspeed chase which led to plaintiff being shot, and then
delayng taking to her to hospital fatesperately needed medical treatmesérr v. Booten580
A.2d 1115, 1121Pa. Super. 1990) (holdirsgction 322 potentially applies to party who directly
caused bodily harm to minor by providing alcohol that caused alcohol poisoning).
5. Restatement (Second) of Torts Section 344

Finally, the plaintiffs mention ipassing that “the Restatement (Second) of Torts § 344
[(“section 344”)] imposes a duty upon a possessor of land to exercise reasonable care to warn
against the ‘accidental, neghigt, or intentionally harmful acts of third person€Hapter 84 Opp.
at 30 (quotingl.A. v. Allen 669 A.2d 360, 364 (Pa. Super. 199%5@ction 344 only applies to a
possessor of land who holds open his property to the public “for his business purposBgst.. .”
(Second) of Torts § 344 he plaintiffs provide no analysis of whether Chapter 84 charging $5 a
cup (presumably to cover the cost of alcohol) constitatbsisiness purpose,” and, in any event,
section 344 clearly states that tthety applies “while they are upon the land . .Id."There is no
dispute that the plaintiffs seek damages for Karlie’s death, which did not occurapteC84
property. Moreover, the plaintiffs’ argument that Chapter 84 had a duty to warn Karlie about

Orrostieta is perplexing, as no one knew more about Orrostieta’s violent tendeacidsarlie.
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Indeed, the plaintiffs’ argument seems to stem from his purported assault andfdhe party,
but, obviously, Karlie was already aware that that occurred.

C. Individual Defendant Nigale Quiles*©

The plaintiffs do not point to any specific facts that render Quiles uniquely liable
Karlie's death(or even any evidence that he attended the pamiyjnstead state that “a jury could
find that[his] [unspecified] conduct, as with all individual members of Chapter 84, substantially
aided Orrostieta’s consumption of alcohol in this ca§&#hapter 84 Opp. at 3Regardless of
Chapter 84’s overall liability, the court would therefore conclude that these geeeral
unsupported claimare insufficient to keeuiles in the case. Accordingly, Quiles is entitled to
summary judgment in his favor on the plaintiffs’ claims.

D. Millersville

1. Whether Miller sville was on Notice that it could Face Title 1X Liability for its
Response to Harassment by a Student’s Guest

The plaintiffs’ final cause of action is a Title IX claim against Millersvillatle 1X
establishes that “[n]Jo person in the Unitgthtes Ball, on the basis of sex, be excluded from
participation in, be denied the benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination undetuaagian
program or activity receiving Federal financial assistancg(J”"U.S.C. § 168h). Title 1X
includes anmplied private right of action against educational institutions for money damages,
Cannon v. University of Chicagal4l U.S. 677, 6889 (1979), where the institution “had
adequate notice that [it] could be liable for the conduct at isBais Next Frend LasShonda D.

v. Monroe CtyBd. of Edug 526 U.S. 629, 640 (1999)avis’). Whether the institution will be

liable depends on whether an institution official “who at a minimum has authoritstitute

30 Although the Chapter 84 defendants moved for summary judgment on behalfbidieHas well,as previously
indicated the parties stipulated to his dismissal on December 7, 2018. Doc. No. 160hAthsuwourt only discusses
the claims against Quilegte.
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corrective measures on the [institution’s] bélea[d] actual notice of, and [wa]s deliberately
indifferent to, the [harasser’s] misconduckébser v. Lago Vista Indefch Dist., 524 U.S. 274,

277 (1998).For sexual harassment to amount to a Title IX violation, it must be “so severe,
pervasive, anabjectively offensive that it can be said to deprive the victims of accebe to
educational opportunities or benefits provided by the schbalvis 526 U.S. at 650.

The question here is whether Title IX liabilapplies where the harasser was thdesttis
own guestThe plaintiffs suggest that imposing liability here would not extend Title 1X liability
but merely “apply the law to a specific set of facts not addressed bipéivie or the Gebsef
Court[s].” PIs.” Mem. of Law in Supypof its Mot. Opmsing Millersville University’s Mot. for
Summ. J. (Millersville Opp”) at § Doc. No. 148L. Millersville, in contrast, argues that the
plaintiffs’ “claim requires this [c]ourt to establish an entirely new categb Title 1X claims.”
Mem. of Law in Suppof Millersville University’s Mot. for Summ. J. (“Millersville Bf) at 2
Doc. No. 147-1. After a thorough review of the caselaw and regulatory guidance, the st agr
with Millersville that denying summary judgment would require sadfepe from the established
Title IX framework, a departure this court is unwilling to make without guigauggesting it
would be appropriate to do so from the Third Circuit or the Supreme Court.

Under certain circumstances, Title IX liability extenddhéwassment at the handsbaith
teachers or other students, but

[t]his is not to say that the identity of the harasser is irrele@mtthe contrary,

both the“deliberate indifferencestandard and the language of Title IX narrowly

circumscribe the set of parties whose known acts of sexual harassment @n trigg

some duty to respond on the part of funding recipiddédiberate indifference

makes sense as a theory of direct liability under Title IX only wheréutiding

recipient has some control over the alleged harassmergcipient cannot be

directly liable for its indifference where it lacks the authority to take reahed
action.
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Davis, 526 U.S. at 630The defendant’Ssubstantial’control must extend both to “the harasser
and the context in which the known harassment occlats.”

In extending Title IX liabilityto include certairstudent-orstudent harassment, tBavis
Court considered that “the regulatory scheme surrounding [Kitleas long provided funding
recipients with notice that they may be liable for their failure to respond to tmanietory acts
of certain nonagents.ld. at 643.Specifically, the Court identified Department of Education
regulations that reference “any agency, organization, or person which dwstesion te basis
of sex in providing any aid, benefit or service to students or employees (34 C.F.R. § 106.31(b)(6))
“education program[s] or activit[ies] not operated wholly by [the] recipieni¢hsas an
educational consortia, cooperative employment, or studaoching assignmen(34 C.F.R. §
106.31(d)); a “foundation, trust, agency, organization, or person which provides [financial]
assistance to any of [the] recipient’s students” (34 C.F.R. 8 106.37(a)(2)); tancya
organization or persojthat] maKes] employment available to any of its students” (34 C.F.R. §
106.38(a)); or contractual relationshijhe institution enterssuch as “employment and referral
agencies, . . labor unions, and . .organizations providing or administering fringe benefits to
employees of the recipient” (34 C.F.R. 8§ 106.51(a)(@))at 664.

The Court also cited to common law, nam@ébmment to Section 320 ofhe Restatement
(Second) of Tortswhich reference“teachers or other persons in charge of a public schiabl.”
at 644;Rest. (Second) of Torts 320 cmt.Adong those same lines, the Court pointed to “state
courts routinely uphold[ing] claims alleging that schools have been negligening tailprotet
their students from the torts of their peers24 U.S. at 644 (citingRupp v. Bryant417 So. 2d
658, 66667 (Fla. 1982) (failure to supervise extracurricular activity where fellodesits hazed

plaintiff); Brahatcek v. Millard SciDist., 273 N.W.2d 680, 688 (Neb. 1979) (failure to supervise
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physical education class where fellow student fatally struck plasticedent with golf club);
McLeod v. Grant Cty. Scbist. No. 128 255 P.2d 360, 3653 (Wash. 1953)en banc)failure
to supervise recess where fellow students rapege&lold plaintiff). Lastly, theDavis Court
noted thaOffice for Civil Rights materialéncluded “policy guidelines providing that studemt-
student sexual harassment falls within the scop@ittd IX’s proscription$ (even though the
guidelines were published too late to have put the defendant institution on notice of potential
liability for a fellow student’s misconduat that casg Id. at 647-48.

Theseguidelines also reference third parties, but in a similarly limited context:

Sexually harassing conduct of third parties, who are not themselves employees or

students at the school (e.g., a visiting speaker or members of a vising athletic club)

can also reate a sexually hostile environment in school programs or activbes.

the same reason that a school will be liable under Title IX for a hostile envinbonme

caused by its students, a school will be liable if third parties sexuallgshdsa

students if (i) a hostile environment exists in the school’s programs or asfivitie

(ii) the school knows or should have known of the harassment, and (iii) the school

fails to take immediate and appropriate corrective action.
Office for Civil Rights; Sexual Harassment Guidance: Harassment of StudgnBchwol
Employees, Other Students, or Third Partés Fed. Reg. 1203401 at 12040 (Mar. 131997)
(footnotes omitted§?

Contrary to the plaintiffs’ argument,is not just tha“this guidance does not specifically
speak to liability for a ‘student’s guest,” Millersville Opp. at 7; it is thaitlmerof the examples

are at all analogous to a student’s own gaasdtare inconsistent with the guidelines’ reference to

“school programs and activities,” as opposed to the school environment more gefémlly

31The revised guidance, which pakitesDavis, likewise provides “a visiting speaker or visiting athletes” asges

of nonemployee third parties to whose harassment the institution may haval abégation to respond. Revised
Sexual Harassmef@uidance: Harassment of Students by School Employees, Other StudteRitsrd Parties, 65
Fed. Reg. 660921 at 66099 (Nov. 2, 2000). The plaintiffs assert, “[i]t is of coursar ¢leat,inter alia, [the Office

for Civil Rights] determined in the wakd Bavisthat schools needed revised advice with regard to their potential
liability for failing to remedy third party harassment.” Millersville Opp. affBat position is inconsistent with the
fact that that the revised guidance does not extend the eeapfghe sort of third parties over whose harassment the
institution may be deemed liable beyond the original examples oftmgispeaker or athlete.
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plaintiffs then cite to Millersville’s own Title IX Policy, which they assert, togetkvith
Millersville’s Corporate Designee, Elizabeth Swardekestimony, establishes that “Millersville
was undoubtedly on notice that their failure to respond to known acts of harassmeteatdd
liability under Title 1X.” 1d. at 9.But Millersville does not dispute that poiftstead Millersville
argues that although liad notice that it could be held liable for failing to adequately respond to
harassment from teachers, fellow students, or third parties whom the Ugilessight to campus
(like a visiting speaker or athlete), it did not have notice of liability fir ¢htegory of harasser,
i.e., a student’'s owguest®? The plaintiffs point to neaselaw that disputes this point.

The plaintiffs emphasize thBtavis, along with the common law and regulatory guidance
Davisrelied upon, puts educational institutions atice that they may be liable ftreir response
to a third party’sharassmemn But Davis does not suggest that institutions may be liable for the
misconduct oinythird party.To the contrary, the Court held that even in cases involving a fellow
student, liability would only attach “in certain limited circumstancés.’at 643.Likewise, the
Court referred to liability for “the discriminatory actsagfrtainnonagents,id. (emphasis added),
not for acts ofiny agent. Thusthe cases and regulagaguidance the Court cited put educational
institutions on notice that they face potential liability for the misconduct of thueiests or other
parties whontheyplay a critical role in connecting with the studeng, a workstudy program,
a studentoan agencypr a schocinvited athlete or speakeNeither the regulations nor the
caselaw suggest that institutions are responsible for the conduct ofpattiyavhose relationship
with the injured student predates or is otherwise unconnected stlibel.Indeed, neither the

parties nor the court has identified any case from any jurisdiction in \@hiolurt held that Title

32 Like with the general references to “third parties,” in the regulatoiglagee, the plaintiffs seeto extend
Millersville’s Title IX policy’s general reference to “visitors/third parties”itelude a student’s guest. Millersville
Opp. at 9. But they provide no precedent that suggests a university'stevXpolicy should be read so much more
broady than caselaw or regulatory guidance when the policy itself inslndesuch indication.
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IX applied to a guest whom the university had no role in bringing to carfmumsideringthat
factual backgroundhe court cannot conclude thdillersville was on notice of potential liability
for the harassment at issue here

2. Millersville’s Actual Notice of Orrostieta’s Harassment

That said, if the Third Circuit or the Supreme Courtev® extend Title IX liabilityto
cover harassment by a student’s own guest, this court would conclude that thésplaend
satisfied the other elements necessary to defeat summary judgimehiniversityargues that no
“appropriate person at Millevdle had actual knowledge” of the harassmaéillersville Br. at
12, butthe evidence creates, at the very least, a disputed issue of material fact about that
conclusion.

An appropriate person at the education institution must have “actual notice” of the
harassment for liability to attaclcebser 524 U.S. at 285That appropriate person is “at a
minimum, an official of the recipient entity with authority to take corrective actioentbthe
discrimination.”ld. at 29033 He or she “has ‘actusthowledge’ if [he or she] knows the underlying
facts, indicating sufficiently substantial danger to students, and wasttesa@fare of the danger.”
Bostic v. Smyrna Sch. Dis#18 F.3d 355, 361 (3d Cir. 2005) (quoting 3C Fed. Jury Prac. & Instr.

§ 177.36 (5th ed. 2001))Actual notice necessitates more than a simple report of inappropriate
conduct, however, the standard ‘does not set the bar so high that a school district is not put on
notice until it receives a clearly credible report of sexual abisa the plaintifistudent.”
Swanger v. WarrioRunSch. Dist, 346 F. Supp. 3d 689, 705 (M.D. Pa. 2018) (quoEague V.

N. OK Coll, 450 F.3d 1146, 1154 (10th Cir. 2006. put it differently, “while actual knowledge

33 Although Millersville denies that any University personnel had actuahlauge, it makes no argument that the
individuals the plaintiffs claimed to have had kneddge for Title IX purposes would not be qualifying officials under
Title IX.
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does not require absolute certaitivat harassment has occurred, there must be more than an
awareness of a mere possibility of the harassmkht(titing Bostic 418 F.3d at 360).

There are two potential waykat a jury could reasonably firtlat the Universitjknew
“underlying facts idicating” that Karlie faced a “sufficiently substantial danger” from Qiets
(1) the altercation irKarlie’'s dorm room on October-8, 2014 and (2Rene& calls to the
University concerning that evers to the October-% incident, Millersville cites to Wiberg's
deposition testimony for the proposition that “Wiberg never Kavie with any physical injury
indicating that she was hitMillersville Br. at 11.But Tina testified that she knew that Wiger
sawan injury toKarlie’s eye that night becauseTipa] was there.’Tina Dep. at 124:510.Tina
explained thaKarlie had tried to hide the injury from Wikggr“but there is no hiding it when
everybody knowsAnd Karlie, like, rolled over and showed [W&rg]. | feel like we had an ice
pack or something that [Wiberg] got out of our fridgibere was definitely ice that we somehow
got for her face.ld. at 124:1320;see also idat 124:58 (“[Wiberg] sawKarlie’s face the night
of the injury.”). A reasonhle jury could deem Tina’s testimony credible and find iWaberg
would not have gotten Karlie ice for her face if she did not realize she was ifjbeetact that
this injury seemingly appeared whilkarlie and Orrostieta were in the room “yelling at each
other” id. at 56:14-15, during which Tinand WibergheardKarlie “scream, bw,” id. at 57:2-6;
Sara Wiberg Oct. 5, 2014 Incident Reporting Form, would lead any reasonable pewociude
that Orrostiéa caused the injurylhus, the caselaw Millersville cites to suggest Wiberg did not
have actual notice here is easily distinguisha®éeMillersville Br. at 11 (citingRost ex rel. K.C.
v. Steamboat Springs RESch. Dist.511 F.3d 1114, 1119 (10th Cir. 2008) (holding student’s
complaints that boys were “bothering her” was insufficient to establisfalacbtice of sexual

harassment)Reese v. Jefferson Sch. Dist. No., 2B F.3d 736, 740 (9th Cir. 2000) (holding
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school district did not have actual notice where students did not report harasstihafter school

year ended, and so school could not “be deemed to have ‘subjected’™ students to harassment);
also Gebser524 U.S. at 291 (holding complaints about teacher’s inappropriate commenssin cla
did not create actual notice of teacher's sexual relationship with studecegpting Tina’'s
testimony as true, Wiberg knew thaarlie and Orrostieta were fightingnd during that fight
Karlie suffered an injury sufficiently serious to require angaek.To hold such facts insufficient
to create actual notice of domestic abuse would run afoul of common sense.

Next, a jury could find thaMillersville had actual notice of the abuse throlRgness
reports Millersville Opp. at 19Shortly after the October8 incident, Tina calle®eneaand told
her about the fight and that “[Orrostieta] must have strifeklie] because she had a black eye.”
Deposition ofReneaFlexer (“Renea Dep.”) at 12:324, Doc. No. 146. Reneathen contacie
the University Police to askhow can we geKarlie help, that she needs to know that she shouldn’t
be treated like this, and th&¢nedwanted somebody to reach out to hédl.”at 18:19-22.Renea
testified that she told the police, “you had an ieaidthere . .and you needed for a domestic
problem and you've removed [Orrostieta] from the campasl.it ends up that, you know, he did
physically abuse her, and she has a black and blue gigtble black and blue eye . . .Id. at
20:10-16. he police toldReneathere was nothing they could do unlésslie contacted them
herself but recommended tiR¢neaontact the counseling department at Millersvilileat 21:8-
16. Reneathencalled the counseling department and describednthéent—including that the
police needed to remove Orrostiethut the counseling department also told her izatie would
have to come to them hersdll. at 2417-25:7.They also providedReneawith the number for
who they said was the head residessistantld. at 27:2-4.Reneacontacted that individual, whom

she identified as “Allie,” and again described the incident, includingkthdie was left with a
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black eyeld. at 29:2230:13.Again, “Allie” told her that there was nothing to be done usles
Karlie reached out herselfd. at 31:8—-12*

Renea’s testimony reveals a concerpatent (of another student) going out of her way to
assist a young woman in need, and encountering resistance from Mi#ersviil she concluded
that her only possible avenue of helpiKarlie was advising her daughter to encourkgelie to
seek helpRenea who certainly owed no legal obligation karlie, acted with diligence and
compassion to try to help this vulnerable young woman, but Millersville’s indifferensured
her efforts were to no avaMillersville characterizeRene&s repeated attempts to déarlie help
as “speculation-she had heard from her daughter thar[ie] had suffered injuries from abuse,
although Karlie] had denied any abuséMillersville Br. at 12.To claim thaKarlie denied to Tina
that she suffered any abuser thatReneaeported to Universy officials mere “speculatior™
is a gross mischaracterization of the record.

Tina testified thaKarlie told her that Orrostieta “just pushed with the heel of h[is] hand on
her eye” and “push[ed] her down into the pillowiha Dep. at 61:225, 62:8 Mil lersville seems
to suggest that the fact that Orrostieta “just” did these things, as opppseatiing Karlie, means
his conduct did not amount to abubsllersville SOF at 1181, 33, 36To be clear, a grown man
shoving the heel of his hand into a woman’s eye seekatd enough to cause a black-eys,
beyond any shadow of a doubt, just as abusive and horrifying as if he had stréfckthes, the
fact thatKarlie may have denied that Orrostieta hit her, Millersville SOF at | 66, is irrelaxdn
Millersville’s assertion thd€arlie “never reported to anyoreeven her twin sisterthat there had

been an incident of abuse” that day is patently fatkeat § 32.Tina’'s undisputed testimony

s4«pllie” likely was Alison Sehl, an area coordinator at Millersville. P&tatement of Add’l Material Facts in Supp.
of its Mot. Opposing Millersville University’s Mot. for Sum J. at 23, Doc. No. 148 Renea Dep. at 45:74.

3% Tina and Renea may have speculated that Orrostieta hit Karlie, as oppdsedrtg the heel of his hand into her
eye, but even if that speculation was incorrect, how Karlie herself deddhie indent amounted to abuse.
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establishes thdfarlie reported the abuse to her, which she then shared her with her mother, who
shared it with multipldJniversityemployees

Likewise, Tina’s andReness testimony clearly contradicts Millersville’s assertion that “no
one saw physical injuries indicative of assaulKamlie in the days after October GViillersville
SOF at § 34. Tina testified that the injury, which eventually developed into a lyeckasted
“about a week.Tina Dep. at 123:1618.Karlie tried to hide that black eye, especially from her
sider, but Tina clearly saw it, which she reported to her mother who, in turn, reportetiet to t
University. The University is not a court of law, free to disregard hearsay testimong uinfieés
within an applicableexception Renea through her daughter, presented to multiple University
channels credible, specific facts about an incident of domestic abuse on Midarsampus that
was serious enough to gikarlie a black eyeThe University already knew, through its own police
department and througWiberg, that the incident on OctoberfAwas serious enough that they
had to dispatch an officer to remove Orrostieta from canfeepting Tina’s testimony as true,
Wiberg also saw the injury tdarlie’s eye, and deemed it serious enough to get hereapack.
Taking those circumstances together, anyone with this knowiehgiuding Wiberg, the
University police, the University’s counseling department, and the lesétent adviser knew
underlying facts indicating that Karlie was in sufficiently substantiatjdenf future harassment
from her physically abusive boyfriendostic 418 F.3d at 361.

3. Millersville’s Control Over Orrostieta and the Dorm Room

Title IX “confines the sope of prohibited conduct based on the recipient’'s degree of
control over the harasser and the environment in which the harassment d2awuis.526 U.S.
at 644. Absent that control, the educational institution would not have “expogg[stdents to

harassment or ‘cause[d]’ them to urgieit ‘under’ the recipient’s programs.ld. at 645.
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Millersville cites to cases concerning students’ privacy rights in their doomga@enerally to
suggest that it had no control over what occurreldariie’s dorm room.Millersville Br. at 8-9
(citing Bradshaw v. Rawling612 F.2d 135, 13910 (3d Cir. 1979)¢ert. denied446 U.S. 909
(1980);Wagner v. Holtzapplel01 F. Supp. 3d 462, 473 (M.D. Pa. 20%5)1. Future Sys., Inc. v.
Pa. State Uniy.688 F.2d 907915 (3d Cir. 1982))But this case does not ask whether Millersville
responding to the abuse would have violafedlie’s privacy rights; it asks whether under the
context in which the abuse occurred, the University could have exercised some tooimrtd
prevent its recurrence

Millersville’s argument that “all the harassment and abuse alleged hereestaurthe
most private circumstances possibi@ Karlie’'s dorm room, late at night, behind a closed door
Millersville Br. at 9,ignores the fact #it knowledge of that abuse did fact,spread outside the
boundaries of that dm room, through Wiberg’s and Officer Liddick’s obseieasand through
Reneés call to three separate University channBlglersville seems to assume that the plaintiffs
would need to show that the University had contemporaneous control over the dorm room to
preventKarlie’'s murder, but the plaintiffs’ argument is that Orrostieta never should haveioe
the dorm roonin the first place—either because the University reagloait toKarlie or her mother
about his domestic abuse earlier or because the University should not have allowedypiasgo b
the guest cheeln process and stay Karlie's room after the Octobeét014 incidentMillersville
Opp. at14-15. Indeed, Millersville’'s Title IX coordinator testifiethat someone from the
University should have contacted both Karlie and Orrostieta in light of Wibiexgtent report.
Dep. of Elizabeth Swantek at 130:20-24; 151:2-21, Doc. No. 148-20.

In Swanger v. Warrior Run School DistritheUnited States District Court for tididdle

District of Pennsylvania described the “control” necessary in a Title 1X wabe a “causation
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element [which] results in a requirement that harassment, or the likelihood erahility of a
student to be subjected to it, must occur subsequent to an official’s decision not to rémaag a
violation.” 346 F. Supp. 3dt 7053 Cases outside the Third Circuit lend further support to the
idea that what Title IX is ultimately meatd capture is the institution’s resporser lack
thereof—to a party over which the institution had the power to take some subsequentFamtion.
example, ifFarmer v. Kansas State Universititedistrict court held that the plaintiff had alleged
facts rdlecting substantial control over her rapist and the fratethéihostedhe party where she
was raped, because the university devoted resources to promoting and ovehgeiatgrhity,

the fraternity was considered a university organization only open to univstsdgnts, ana
university instructor directethe fraternly. Case No. 1€V-2256JAR-GEB, 2017 WL 980460,

at *8 (D. Kan. Mar. 14, 2017Whether the university could have entered the fraternity himuse
prevent the rape while it wagcurringwas not the issu&ee idat *10 (“KSU’s next argument

that because did not have ‘contemporaneous control’ over the alleged assailant and the fraternity
house, it lacked substantial control over the alleged assailant and the contextafdhassauit-

is similarly unavailing.” (footnote omitted)).

Applying that logichere, it would not be the fact that Orrostieta murd&adie on school
property that subjecteMillersville to Title IX liability. Rather, it would be the fact that the
University already knew thafarlie was suffering harassment from the October indidemd—
because it did nothing in responsKarlie was subjected to further harassment and, ultimately,

her murderIn seeking to limit the question to whether it had the power to contemporaneously

36 UnderSwanger Millersville arguably could not have been liable for Karlie’s death if it temke steps to respond
to the abuse (assuming those steps were not clearly unreasobabld)imately failed to prevent the murd&ee
346 F. Supp. 3d at 705 (“The fact that the appropriate person’s initial sespoes not remedy or prevent the
harassment, or that the school does not use a particular method to remesient the harassment, does not provide
sufficient grounds foliability.” (citation omitted)). But that defense is premised on the assamihat the institution
make some “initial response,” which Millersville did not do here.
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know of and stop the murder, Millersville, like the defertdarFarmer, considers the issue of
“control” too narrowly.The plaintiffs have presented evidence that Millersville exercised control
over who entered and stayed in its dormitories, including requirements tlsa$ gign in and
policies prohibiting a guest from staying in a dorm room for too lmgt certain points in the
year The OctobeR014incident itself establishes that Millersville’s agents, including Wiberg and
the Millersville police, had some supervisory authority over what occurred in thesd&s she

did during the October altercation, Wiberg at least seems to have attempteddbtienihcident

by knocking on the door in responselarlie’s neighbors’ reports that they had heard banging
and furniture being movedViberg Dep. afl29:6—130:2Wiberg could have continued to knock
on the door and, if she still received no response, announce to any occupants that shallwould c
the police (again, as she did in October) if no one opened thé’dbaould have been more than
reasonald to do so considering all the prior everisthe very least, there is a genuine dispute of
fact over whether it was within Millersville’s or its agents’ control to chanlgat\wwappened that
night, either by preventing Orrostieta from being in the dorriné first place or by interrupting

the fight that led to Karlie death®®

37 Millersville argues that the October 5 incident “actually demaiss the limit of [Wiberg's] control” because
“Orrostieta had to leave because [Karlie] revoked his permission to be the@nd.tlhere is no indication in the
record that she ever did that again.” Reply Mem. of Law in Further Suppllefdville University’s Mot. for amm.

J. at 6 n.7, Doc. No. 151 (citations omitted). The idea that Wiberg couldIr@irstieta to leave, or at least call the
police, when he was strangling Karlie to death because she had notydmmatked his permission to be there” is
patently &surd. It is also directly contracted by the University’'s own polidyich establishes the procedures by
which guests may enter the dorms and limits the number of times thetay there, regardless of whether the
student wishes for them to stay. DepBoan Hazlett at 126:617 (discussing Millersville’s guest policy), Doc. No.
14816;id. at 148:8-149:18 (same). Certainly, if Millersville could prohibit Orrostieta fretaying in Karlie’s dorm
room more than three days in a row (or from being theee GWristmas break, Wiberg Dep. at 13&9), it could
remove him from being there for actively trying to murder her (ordsaalting her).

38 Millersville may suggest that it did not, in fact, have control over whe@hvenstieta entered the dorm because
Karlie would occasionally sneak him in through a back door. Millees@DF at § 16. They do not claim that is what
happened on February 8, 2015, and even if they did, that would go more towands egusideration of whether
their response in not ting to ban him from the dormitory was clearly unreasonable, rather thethev they lacked
control over him.

60



4, Whether Millersville was Deliberately Indifferent to Orrostieta’s Abuse

The burden that theaviscourt placed upon educat@lnnstitutions to address peer sexual
harassment was not high: the institution “must merely respond to known peer legatassian
manner that is not clearly unreasonabi28 U.S. at 649 genuine issue of material fact certainly
would exist as to whetheloing nothing in response to evidence that a student is being abused, on
campus property, within earshot of her resident advisor, as confirmed ohenate’s mother
after the factwasclearly unreasonabldillersville’s argument that “there were ngeavitness
reports of any abuse, an&drlie] refused to confirm tcanyone that abuse had occurred”
contradicts Tina’s testimony that she and Wiberg both saw the injigri@’'s eye (which Tina
witnessed develop into a black eye the next day) ané&#rhae told her that Orrostieta had pushed
the heel of his hand into her eye socket until she had been forced down onto the-aillow
undoubtedly abusive aetall of which the Uniersity learned fromTina’s mother. Karlie’s
description of the alteation cannot be reasonably characterized as anything other than a
confirmation of abuselo suggest otherwise would be to minimize the suffering that this young
woman endued at her boyfend’s hands, suffering whidReneaold multiple University officials
about As Millersville cannot point to anything it did in response to the abuse, there wartaghty
be,ata minimum, an issue of fact for a jury to decide.

5. Whether the Harassmentwas Sufficiently Severe and Pervasive to Deprive€arlie of
her Education

The fact that a reasonable trier of fact could conclude that Millersville’$enelifce in the
wake of the Octobe2014incident subjectetarlie to further abuse-ultimately culminating in
her murder—means that, contrary to Millersville’s argument, the jury would not be limited to
consideration of class&arlie missed specifically because of the October injasythe jury could

also consider her death, themeuld no question that they could reasonably conclude that the
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harassment was adequately sev8ee. Doe v. Pennridge Sch. DjsEiv. A. No. 173570, 2019
WL 2011069, at *7 (E.D. Pa. May 7, 2019)p(dingreasonable jury could find harassment was
sufficiently “severe or pervasive” where plaintiff alleged abusive forbwffriend sehsocial
media thrats, stalked, taunted, and physically threated her at schibebefore, if Orrostieta had
been a fellow student, a visiting athlete or speaker, or a third party somehow anadoipmse t
groups, the court would not hesitate to put this case beforg.2 jur
V. CONCLUSION

In the wake of tragedy, it is natural to ask whether someone could or should have done
something differently. But it is not for the court to determine whether someone shoellthken
some actionThe court’sanalysis is limited to whetheomeoneavas obligated to do something as
a matter of lawand whether tseparticular plaintifs can obtain relief from #separticular
defendantsor the particular acts at issue hehe this casethere is no evidence that Acacia played
any meaningful role in the events that led to Karlie’'s dddthone at the organization had any
way to know about or control the party on Februar8, 205, and certainly no one knew that
among the partygoers would be an individual cépab murderinghis girlfriend Likewise, the
members of Chapter 84who, indisputably, should not have served alcohol to minors and, in fact,
violated the law in doing senonetheless could not possibly have foreseen that Orrostieta would
leave the party ahperform such a heinous, unspeakable act.

In contrast, the Flexers were on notice of the abuse, and they did everything in their power
to try to help KarlieUndoubtedly, thewere under no legal obligation whatsoever to do so, but

they nonetheless acted with sympathy and compassion in toygeg ber helplt is impossible to

39 Millersville also argues that sovereign immunity bars any Widingeath Act or Survival Act action. As the
plaintiffs acknowledge that wrongfdeath and survival “are nothing more than a vehicle to recover damagkes” un
Title IX, the court’s holdindhata Title IX cause of action does not lie resolves this dispute. Millersvilfe &6

27.
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say what would have happeneadhMillersville been at all receptive to their attempisr of all

the defendants here, only Millersville knew facts indicating Karlie was in sutatdanger and
had the power to offer any not clearly unreasonable respdonseever,consideringhe relevant
judicial precedent and regulatory guidance, the court cannot conclude thativeeslty was on
notice of potential liability stemming from this particular category of harasaarely a student’s
guest Certainly, this casecould have had an entirely different result if Orrostieta fell into a
category of third partyhose acts magreateTitle IX liability. But those are not the facts here,
and so the court muatso grant Millersville’s motion for summary judgment.

The court will enter a separate order.

BY THE COURT:

/s/ Edward G. Smith
EDWARD G. SMITH, J.
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